Information, indicators and data on the prevalence of chronic diseases in the European Union

Specific contract – $N_{\rm o}\,SC$ 2011 62 51, implementing Framework Contract $N_{\rm o}$ EAHC/2010/Health/01 (Lot 1)

RIVM, July 2012

Harbers MM Achterberg PW

Table of contents

Executive summary	3
Acknowledgements	7
List of tables	8
List of textboxes	8
1 Introduction	9
2 Background and context	11
3 Methodology	12
4 Results	
4.1 Chronic disease in general	17
4.2 Cardiovascular diseases	18
4.3 Cancer	24
4.4 Diabetes	30
4.5 Respiratory diseases and allergies	36
4.6 Mental disorders (depression)	
4.7 Neurodegenerative disorders	
4.7.1 Dementia	51
4.7.2 Parkinson's disease	55
4.7.3 Multiple sclerosis	59
5 Conclusions and recommendations	
6 References	66
Disclaimer	73
Annex 1: List of abbreviations	74
Annex 2: List of country name abbreviations	76
Annex 3: Search strategy	77
Annex 4: Indicator definitions according to different databases	

Executive summary

Background and objectives

The European Commission called for a report on data, indicators and available information on the prevalence of major chronic diseases in the European Union (EU). This in response to a health information action that was proposed in conclusions from the EU Council ¹.

The present report by the RIVM (National Institute for Public Health and the Environment, the Netherlands) is the result of this call and gives an overview of existing sources of data, indicators and available information on the prevalence of major chronic diseases in the European Union. The report addresses the following chronic diseases as proposed in the call:

- cardiovascular disease (diseases that involve the heart or blood vessels): ischemic heart disease and stroke;
- cancer:
- diabetes;
- respiratory diseases (diseases of throat and lungs): chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), asthma, allergic rhinitis;
- mental disorders: depression;
- neurodegenerative disorders (diseases characterised by progressive nervous system dysfunction): dementia, Parkinson's disease and multiple sclerosis.

In addition, the report gives a short overview of the availability of data on the prevalence of chronic diseases in general.

Methods

We gathered and reviewed existing information on data availability, quality and comparability from the following sources:

- 1) Relevant EU sponsored health information projects identified through the project database of the Executive Agency for Health and Consumers (including the information collected by the Joint Action for European Community Health Indicators and Monitoring (JA for ECHIM), the European Health Examination Survey Pilot Joint Action (EHES JA), and some disease-specific projects).
- 2) Databases containing health information, such as the database of Eurostat (the statistical office of the European Union), the Health for All database of the World Health Organization (WHO-HfA), the health database of the Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD) and the GLOBOCAN database from the International Agency of Research on Cancer.

¹ Council of the European Union (2011). Council conclusions 'Innovative approaches for chronic diseases in public health and healthcare systems' (2011/C 74/03). Official Journal of the European Union 8.3.2011.

- 3) European health information initiatives, such as:
 - The European Health Interview Survey (EHIS);
 - The Eurostat morbidity statistics pilot.

We also analysed reports from relevant international institutes, expert networks and EU funded health information and reporting projects for prevalence data. In addition, the information on chronic diseases on the website of DG SANCO (the European Commission Directorate-General Health & Consumers) was included in the analysis. We have prioritised towards data available from ready to use sources that are providing comparable information for more than one country. Finally, we searched the research databases MEDLINE, EMBASE, SciSearch and PsycINFO for reviews and comparative studies on the prevalence of the selected disease groups that were published after 2008.

For each disease (group) we collected the following information into structured tables:

- (most important) sources;
- source type: database, project report, research article or review article;
- type of data collection: register or survey using an interview and/or examination;
- geographical coverage: EU Member States, Acceding countries and Candidate Countries, and the European Free Trade Association (EFTA) Countries;
- possibilities to breakdown by gender and age groups;
- periodicity and year(s) of data collection.

Results

Lack of comparable and sustainable data on chronic disease prevalence

Based on the tabular overviews of existing data, we identified several gaps in data availability for the prevalence of the selected chronic diseases. The availability of timely data is especially problematic for cardiovascular diseases, whereas data on cancer is much more widely available than for other chronic diseases. For some diseases (e.g. multiple sclerosis, Parkinson's disease, diabetes) a wealth of local and national data exists but because these data are originating from a great variety of studies, they are still far from comparable. Furthermore, the available information on the prevalence of chronic diseases is scattered among several reports, (project) websites, research articles and international databases, with generally only the latter being a source with some form of sustainability. The availability of data varies enormously between EU Member States.

European Health Information Survey is important source for self-reported prevalence

Focusing on databases, information on the self-reported prevalence of cardiovascular disease, cancer, diabetes, depression, COPD and asthma has become available from the first wave of EHIS for the majority of EU countries. Eurostat published the EHIS data for diabetes, COPD, asthma and depression in its online database. In addition, information on the self-reported prevalence of diabetes, asthma, COPD and depression is also available from the ECHIM data collection pilot for several EU countries that did not participate in the first wave of EHIS. All EU Member States will probably conduct EHIS in the second wave, which is planned for 2014.

Eurostat morbidity data activities are important potential source for register-based prevalence

Register-based data on the prevalence of cardiovascular disease, cancer, depression, COPD, asthma, diabetes, Parkinson's disease, multiple sclerosis and dementia have been collected in the Eurostat morbidity statistics pilot for many EU countries, but Eurostat will not publish the data as comparable statistics. The aim of the Eurostat morbidity statistics activities is to set up a regular data collection on morbidity within the European Statistical System. This, together with the second wave of EHIS will significantly improve the availability of prevalence data and provide possibilities to monitor trends. In addition, several projects and networks aim to improve the quality, comparability and availability of prevalence data in Europe.

Large differences in data availability between countries

Availability of the data is not equally distributed among countries and this leads to large 'health information inequalities' within the EU27. Data availability is generally better in the 'old' EU15 countries and worse in the countries that became EU Member in 2004 or later. Furthermore, trend data are not always available and several studies/projects highlight the need for more age and sex-specific data collection to be able to standardise data by age and sex, which is essential for making international comparisons.

Conclusions and recommendations

Lack of data impedes health policy development and evaluation throughout Europe

Based on the overviews of existing data we conclude that the availability of timely and comparable chronic disease prevalence data is far from ideal in Europe. A balanced, timely and adequate picture of chronic disease prevalence is lacking. This impedes health policy development and evaluation throughout Europe. Health interview surveys, registries and epidemiological studies that include some form of health examination are important data sources. The data quality and comparability of these sources mainly depends on the methods used in each specific survey or register. Due to a lack of consensus on the methods and definitions, these methods often differ leading to problems in comparability. Still, together health interview surveys (HIS), registries and health examination surveys (HES) form a good basis for improving national and international health monitoring systems.

EU-wide data collections important to boost the data situation

From the overviews of available data it is clear that EU-wide data collections such as EHIS and the Eurostat morbidity statistics activities are important future or potential sources of data on the prevalence of chronic diseases in the EU27. For this reason and because they are complementary to each other, these pilot initiatives together with EHES-related initiatives may boost the data situation in the future and therefore need to be sufficiently supported. Implementation of a harmonised European Health Examination Survey (EHES) in all EU Member States would provide an important source of comparable data on both the prevalence of chronic diseases as well as on their determinants. The implementation of an EHES could build on preliminary work that has already been done in previous EU projects like the EHES pilot project and the Feasibility of a European Health Examination Survey (FEHES).

Sustainable investments needed for monitoring disease trends

In addition to benchmarking and supporting health policies, the purpose of health indicators is to monitor trends. In order for European Health Interview Survey, European Health Examination Survey and the Eurostat morbidity statistics activities to fully reach their potential for health monitoring, sustainable investments are necessary to make sure that the current pilots become a sustainable data source and provide possibilities to monitor and compare trends. Because disease registers, HIS and HES activities are expensive, it is worthwhile to further stimulate the use of existing routinely collected data as started by the Eurostat morbidity pilot and develop protocols to arrive at optimal comparability for such data sets. Regularly updating larger multicenter studies would also be important for monitoring disease trends. We mention: the European Community Respiratory Health Survey, the International Study of Asthma and Allergies in Childhood and the MONICA study (MONItoring trends and determinants in CArdiovascular disease).

Stimulate joint data collection and need for central coordination

To improve the current data situation in Europe, DG SANCO should stimulate joint data collection between Eurostat, the OECD, the WHO and EU Member States by bringing them together on morbidity data and other health information topics as part of a common health information strategy. These organisations should join forces and use each others' expertise and networks to improve the availability, quality and comparability of health data in general and for chronic diseases in particular. To make investments in improving data availability, comparability and quality more sustainable, some central form of coordination is needed. Sustainable investments should, therefore, also become part of the common European health information strategy. Finally, a web-based chronic disease monitoring system can increase visibility of available information and increase Member States' commitment.

Acknowledgements

We gratefully acknowledge the reviewing of the draft version of the report by our RIVM colleagues Coen van Gool, Eveline van der Wilk and Marieke Verschuuren. Thanks are also due to Lorena Androutsou, Arianna Calistri, Boriana Goranova, Fabienne Lefebvre, Wojciech Dziworski (all DG SANCO) and Hristina Mileva (EAHC) for commenting on the draft of the report. Finally, thanks are due to Wolfgang Philipp and Albrecht Werner for clarifying the information needs by the Commission in the early stages of the project.

List of tables

Table 1: Overview of available data on the prevalence of cardiovascular diseases	22
Table 2: Overview of available data on the prevalence of cancer	
Table 3: Overview of available data on the prevalence of diabetes	
Table 4: Overview of available data on the prevalence of COPD	40
Table 5: Overview of available data on the prevalence of asthma and allergic rhinitis	43
Table 6: Overview of available data on the prevalence of depression.	48
Table 7: overview of available data on the prevalence of dementia	53
Table 8: Overview of available data on the prevalence of Parkinson's disease	
Table 9: Overview of available data on the prevalence of multiple sclerosis	61
List of textboxes	
Textbox 1: European Health Examination Survey (EHES)	13
Textbox 2: European health interview survey (EHIS)	14
Textbox 3: Eurostat morbidity statistics pilot	16

1 Introduction

The Council of the European Union has published a Council Conclusion paper 'Innovative approaches for chronic diseases in public health and healthcare systems'. In this, the Council has invited the Member States and the Commission to "initiate a reflection process aiming to identify options to optimize the response to the challenges of chronic diseases, the cooperation between Member States and summarize its outcomes in a reflection paper by 2012"(1).

The Council also invited the Commission to integrate, where possible, chronic diseases as a priority in current and future European research and action programmes (1). In addition, the United Nations (UN) High Level Meeting on non-communicable diseases in New York in September 2011 confirmed that addressing chronic diseases has now become a global priority (2).

One of the four areas in which scope for action was identified by the Council was "comparable information at European level on the incidence, the prevalence, the risk factors and the outcomes concerning chronic diseases". This should take account of "different existing mechanisms such as the EHES, the development of morbidity statistics under ESTAT, existing registries and other sources, to enable benchmarking and evidence-based policy".

In response to this health information action the European Commission called for a report on data, indicators and available information on the prevalence of major chronic diseases in the European Union (EU). The present report is the result of this call and gives an overview of existing sources of data, indicators and available information on the prevalence of major chronic diseases in the European Union. The report addresses the following chronic diseases, as specified by the Commission:

- cardiovascular disease (diseases that involve the heart or blood vessels): ischemic heart disease and stroke (paragraph 4.2)
- cancer (4.3)
- diabetes (paragraph 4.4)
- respiratory diseases (diseases of throat and lungs): chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), asthma, allergic rhinitis (paragraph 4.5)
- mental disorders: depression (paragraph 4.6)
- neurodegenerative disorders (diseases characterised by progressive nervous system dysfunction): dementia, Parkinson's disease and multiple sclerosis (paragraph 4.7).

In addition, the report gives a short overview of the availability of data on the prevalence of chronic diseases in general (paragraph 4.1).

For meaningful international comparisons data should not only be actually available, but also comparable and of sufficient quality. Comparability and quality are strongly dependent on the type of data collection (examination or interview survey, specific disease registry, general practice (GP) or hospital registry, epidemiological study). Based on the complex findings from the overview this report also gives proposals to improve the availability, reliability and comparability of chronic disease prevalence data (chapter 5 Conclusions and recommendations).

This report is the first in a series of four reports to be prepared by the Dutch National Institute for Public Health and the Environment (RIVM) in 2012 in response to a call by DG SANCO (Directorate-General Health and Consumers). These reports should feed into DG SANCO's work on chronic diseases and/or the reflection process described above. The other reports will give an overview of the burden of chronic diseases in the older population, their impact on economic participation and good practices related to retention and return to work interventions. In addition they will provide an analysis of the outcomes of a European-wide stakeholder consultation as part of the so-called 'chronic disease reflection process'. The current report will be an important basis for the overview of the burden of chronic diseases in the older population in Europe.

2 Background and context

The EU is required by its founding treaty to ensure that human health is protected as part of all its policies. The EU's current health strategy 'Together for Health' (2008-2013) aims to protect and improve human health. It is implemented, among other things, through so-called health programmes. One of the aims of these health programmes is to generate and disseminate health information and knowledge needed for improving the health of EU citizens. This is for instance reflected in separate health information strands in the first and second Action Programme on Public Health. Within these strands, various health information oriented projects have been executed.

Given the importance of health information for health policy preparation and evaluation, DG SANCO (Directorate-General Health and Consumers) has supported projects on developing and defining health indicators (such as European Community Health Indicators), piloting on data collection in specific areas, building information websites and publishing reports. Other activities include cooperating with Eurostat on harmonisation of data collections, e.g. EHIS (European Health Interview Survey) and building the so-called HEIDI wiki. This HEIDI wiki (Health in Europe: Information and Data Interface) is an internet based wiki tool for European health information and data to be launched early may, 2012.

The EU has funded numerous projects with the intention to further develop indicators in specific health areas and in that effort a central coordinating effort has been developed in the ECHI and ECHIM projects and the Joint Action for ECHIM. The goal of these European Community Health Indicators (ECHI) projects was to establish a set of health indicators for the EU health information system (to support health policies through monitoring trends and making comparisons between countries).

This ECHI shortlist has been developed as a priority list for data harmonisation among EU countries, in which 'harmonisation' refers to uniformity of indicator definition as well as of underlying data collection. The 88 shortlist indicators were selected by expert panels to represent a core set of 'the most important public health items, from a general policy maker's point of view'. The selection was also driven by national public health policy priorities (3). The list was adopted by DG SANCO as a central guide for the further implementation of health monitoring and reporting at the EU level, and mentioned as such in the EU Health Strategy 'Together for Health' (4). The ECHI shortlist also features in the framework Regulation for statistics concerning public health and safety at work, adopted by the Parliament and council in 2008 (5)

3 Methodology

For this report we gathered and reviewed the available information on data availability, quality and comparability as published by the following sources:

- 1) Relevant EU projects identified through the EAHC project database ². This includes:
 - a. Health information projects covering more than one chronic disease or disease group:
 - Joint Action (JA) for ECHIM: ECHIM stands for European Community Health Indicators and Monitoring. This is a three-year project to develop and implement health indicators and health monitoring for the EU and its Member States. It draws on the work of the previous ECHI and ECHIM projects, and will end at 30.6.2012. Within the JA for ECHIM data on the prevalence of several chronic diseases are collected as part of a *pilot data collection*.
 - EHES JA: The European Health Examination Survey Pilot Joint Action is a collaboration to collect nationally representative, high quality health data that are comparable between countries and over time (see textbox 1).
 - b. Health information projects focusing on specific chronic diseases:
 - Cardiovascular diseases: EUROCISS I and II;
 - Cancer: EUROCHIP, EUROPREVAL, RARECAREnet, EUNICE;
 - Diabetes: EUDIP, EUCID, BIRO, EUBIROD;
 - Respiratory diseases: ECRHS, IMCA I and II;
 - Mental disorders: MINDFUL, EU-WMH;
 - Neurodegenerative disorders: MS-ID, EUReMS, EuroCoDe, ALCOVE.
- 2) Databases containing internationally comparable health data:
 - Eurostat database;
 - WHO-HfA database (World Health Organization Health for All database);
 - OECD Heath database (Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development);
 - GLOBOCAN 2008 database (the global cancer database of the International Agency for Research on Cancer).
- 3) European health information initiatives:
 - EHIS: The European health interview survey (EHIS) is implemented and managed by Eurostat and will include information from all EU Member States (see textbox 2).
 - Eurostat morbidity statistics pilot: The aim of this pilot was to test the feasibility of the methodological approach for producing diagnosis-specific morbidity statistics required for the European Statistical System (see textbox 3).

In addition, we scanned reports from relevant international institutes (e.g. OECD, WHO and the European Commission) and expert networks (e.g. Alzheimer Europe, International Diabetes Federation, European Heart Network, European Respiratory Society) for the availability of prevalence data. For example, 'Health at a Glance: Europe 2010' (6), 'the Major and Chronic diseases report' (7), 'European cardiovascular disease statistics 2008' (8) and 'The state of mental health in the European Union' (9). We also scanned several reports on the prevention and management of chronic disease for information on relevant data sources for chronic disease prevalence (10-14).

² http://ec.europa.eu/eahc/projects/database.html

Textbox 1: European Health Examination Survey (EHES)

Data collection:

In the European Health Examination Survey Pilot Project (2009-2011) twelve countries piloted a standardised health examination survey (HES) in the working age population. The core measurements that were included by all countries were: actually measured weight, height, waist circumference, blood pressure, total and HDL-cholesterol, fasting glucose or HbA1c ³. These are modifiable determinants of major chronic diseases that are not identified in health interview surveys. Although these determinant data are not falling within the scope of this report, data on these determinants are also very important for monitoring of chronic diseases, for example for modelling and projecting future disease trends. In addition to these core measurements, countries may include other measurements and questions into their national HES. Potential additional measurements are for example lung function tests and blood triglycerides, which are an indicator of cardiovascular risk.

Future:

The vision of the EHES project is to grow into a sustainable system of national health examination surveys in Europe as part of the European Health Survey System and covering all EU and EFTA/EEA countries.

Significance for ECHI indicators:

When EHES will be fully implemented in a majority of EU Member States, ECHIM has proposed to switch to using EHES as preferred data source for the indicators on blood pressure and BMI.

Pros and cons:

Multi-centre population-based (research) studies or health examination studies in different countries using the same methodology are probably the most reliable source for international comparisons. They would also allow the benefit from new knowledge and markers that are derived from genomics research. However, they are expensive and therefore often carried out on an ad hoc basis.

Furthermore, we scrutinised the information on the epidemiology of chronic diseases that has been gathered by the EU funded health information and reporting projects, indicated below:

- EUPHIX (EU Public Health Information & Knowledge System) has been developed as a prototype for a web-based European public health reporting and monitoring system for health professionals, policy makers and others (the website is offline now).
- EUGLOREH (Global Report on the Health Status in the European Union). The general objective of this project was the production of a 'Report on Health in the European Union' extending from 1998 until the most recently available data. This report is intended to be a reference publication providing general information on health status of the European population and on associated time trends. Its information has been included in a preliminary version of DG SANCO's HEIDI wiki website.
- DYNAMO-HIA (DYNAmic MOdel for Health Impact Assessment). The aim of this project was to develop a web-based tool to assess the health impact of policies. The project collected age- and sex-specific data on the prevalence of COPD, diabetes, ischemic heart disease, stroke and cancer for as many of the 27 countries of the European Union as possible. These data serve as input for the DYNAMO-HIA model.

³ For details see: http://www.ehes.info/

Textbox 2: European health interview survey (EHIS)

Data collection:

Between 2006 and 2010 the first data collection round for EHIS was carried out in the majority of EU Member States (BE, BG, CZ, DE, EE, EL, ES, FR, CY, LV, HU, MT, AT, PL, RO, SI, SK) Switzerland and Turkey ⁴. Eurostat has published the results of the first wave for the self-reported prevalence of diabetes, depression, asthma and chronic bronchitis, emphysema, and other chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (15). EHIS could also be a source for the self-reported prevalence of myocardial infarction, coronary heart disease, stroke, cancer and allergy. It is noted that not in all countries mentioned a full scale survey has been carried out; in some countries only specific modules were applied, in others the full questionnaire was applied but only in a small pilot sample.

Future:

Based on the outcomes of and experiences in the first data collection wave, the EHIS questionnaire has been thoroughly under revision ⁵. This will lead to adaptations to the EHIS question underlying the indicators for prevalence of chronic diseases in the second wave (planned for 2014). In the January 2012 draft version of the revised questionnaire, in the EHIS question asking the respondent whether he/she has had any of the diseases listed, the part about whether the disease was diagnosed by a doctor has been deleted from the question. The approval process by the Member States has not been finalised yet, so (minor) changes in the questionnaire can still occur. The final version of the questionnaire is expected to be ready later this year. At the time of writing this report, an EHIS implementing act on EHIS is being developed. It is envisaged that this act will form the legal basis for EHIS wave II in 2014. It will not form the legal basis for possible future waves after 2014. The legal basis for future waves is not yet certain. It is expected that all EU Member States will conduct EHIS in the second wave.

Significance for ECHI indicators:

As proposed by the Joint Action for ECHIM, EHIS is the preferred (interim) source for 27 ECHI shortlist indicators, and hence it is a very important data source for the proposed European indicator set. In the Joint Action for ECHIM national HIS data have been collected in the so called ECHIM pilot data collection for countries not participating in the first EHIS wave. The data will be published in the final report of the JA for ECHIM as well as in the HEIDI data tool (16).

Pros and cons:

The advantage of HIS is that it is a population based survey and also includes patients that have not been in contact with the types of health care services that are covered in the register data. As it is based on self-report, the diseases are also not described in terms of ICD codes. (E)HIS-based estimates may be influenced by reporting biases and sampling related biases. Therefore, they may not be a fully adequate reflection of the current situation in a country, and other estimates may be better for this purpose. However, as a common methodology is underlying the gathering of EHIS data, they suit the purpose of international comparison and benchmarking rather well.

http://circa.europa.eu/Public/irc/dsis/health/library?l=/methodologiessandsdatasc/healthsinterviewssurv ey/ehis wave 1&vm=detailed&sb=Title

For details see:

http://circa.europa.eu/Public/irc/dsis/health/library?l=/methodologiessandsdatasc/healthsinterviewssurv ev/ehis wave 2&vm=detailed&sb=Title

⁴ For details see:

Finally, we have looked at information on chronic disease on the website of DG SANCO ⁶. We focused on data available from ready to use sources providing comparable information and for more than one country.

The analysis of the above-mentioned sources has revealed that these projects/reports mapped the availability of prevalence data only until 2008 for most disease groups. Therefore, we searched MEDLINE, EMBASE, SciSearch and PsycINFO for reviews and comparative studies performed after 2008 (see Annex 3 for search strategy).

We did not include hospital discharge data as a potential source of prevalence because they only represent the subset of patients who are admitted to hospital, often with specific complications. Therefore, they do not reflect the true prevalence for the chronic diseases at hand. Furthermore, hospital admission policies show prevalence independent trends over time. For example, currently in many countries only the most severe cases of patients with COPD will visit a hospital.

For each disease (group) we collected the following information into structured tables:

- (most important) sources;
- source type: database, project report, research article or review article;
- type of data collection: register or survey using an interview and/or examination;
- geographical coverage: EU Member States, Acceding countries and Candidate Countries, and the European Free Trade Association (EFTA) Countries;
- possibilities to breakdown by gender and age groups;
- periodicity and year(s) of data collection.

As the ECHI shortlist has been developed as a priority list for data harmonisation among EU countries, we also shortly summarise some issues related to indicator development for chronic diseases as related to the ECHI shortlist.

In addition to benchmarking and supporting health policies, the purpose of ECHI indicators is to monitor and compare trends. For monitoring trends sustainable data collections are necessary. Therefore, the overview of available data sources distinguishes between information from databases and information from project reports and research or review articles. Databases are generally sustainable data sources or have the potential to become a sustainable data source. Reports and research articles or reviews are generally presenting data that are available on an ad hoc basis.

Based on the tabular overviews of existing data, we have identified gaps in data availability and possibilities for improvement. Finally, in chapter 5 we make some realistic proposals to improve the availability, reliability and comparability of chronic disease prevalence data in the European Union based on experience from international indicator projects and networks such as the Joint Action for ECHIM.

-

⁶ http://ec.europa.e<u>u/health/major_chronic_diseases/diseases/index_en.htm</u>

Textbox 3: Eurostat morbidity statistics pilot

Data collection:

Sixteen countries have carried out the Eurostat diagnosis-specific morbidity statistics pilot between 2007 and 2010. This pilot study aimed at providing best national estimates. The sixteen participating countries collected register-based data for a large number of diseases, which included the chronic diseases addressed in the current report ⁷: ischemic heart diseases (including AMI), cerebrovascular disease, diabetes, cancer, COPD and asthma, depression, Parkinson's disease, multiple sclerosis and dementia.

Future:

In September 2011 Eurostat formed a Task Force on morbidity statistics. This Task Force aims to assess the data collected in 16 country pilots for their quality and comparability. The aim is to provide criteria and recommendations on how to calculate the best estimates for the measurements presented in the European shortlist including harmonised definitions for the different indicators. The final aim is to set up a regular data collection on morbidity within the European Statistical System. Eurostat will not publish the set of morbidity pilot data since they were collected to assess the feasibility of the proposed method. Countries may decide themselves whether they want to publish the data.

Significance for ECHI indicators:

Register-based data for diabetes, asthma, COPD, depression and dementia were also collected in the ECHIM data collection pilot. In this pilot each Member State also decided for itself which would be (are) the best data source(s) for calculating the estimates. The attempt to collect administrative/register-based data was less successful than the collection of national HIS based data. Only a few countries could devote enough resources or were able to provide the data according to desired ECHI dimensions and breakdowns.

Pros and cons:

Given the fact that not in all Member States the health information system is well aligned with the health care system (the latter usually providing registry-based data), there will be limitations to the comparability of national estimates resulting from registers. Small differences (between and within countries) in disease coding practices compromise data comparability even further (17). In addition, due to differences in national priorities and data protection regulations, possibilities for developing national registers vary between countries.

The advantage of register-based data is that they are routinely collected and therefore are a cheap source of data. Another advantage of registers over survey sources is that they identify diseases based on medical diagnosis. However, several chronic diseases often remain undiagnosed, because people do not always seek medical help, or consult physicians (e.g. General Practitioners) who are not specialised in the disease and do not always recognise or register their disease. This is for example often the case for mental disorders. Diabetes often remains undiagnosed as well. Therefore, epidemiological surveys using more comprehensive measurement instruments (e.g. diagnostic interviews, health examinations, biomarkers from blood) tend to find higher prevalence estimates than estimates based on registered/diagnosed cases.

 $\frac{http://circa.europa.eu/Public/irc/dsis/health/library?l=/methodologiessandsdatasc/diagnosis-specific\&vm=detailed\&sb=Title$

⁷ For details see:

4 Results

This chapter starts with a short overview of data on the prevalence of chronic disease in general. Next, it gives for each chronic disease (group):

- a table that includes information on the identified sources for prevalence data;
- a short overview of relevant indicator development;
- a short analysis of the current data situation and an identification of main gaps (or possibilities for improvement);
- a short overview of existing initiatives to improve data availability, reliability and/or comparability in these areas.

4.1 Chronic disease in general

The ECHI indicator self-reported chronic morbidity provides information on the prevalence of any long-standing (chronic) illness or longstanding health problem, i.e. on the burden of chronic diseases in general (3, 18). The data on self-reported chronic morbidity are available for all EU countries and Iceland, Norway, Switzerland and Croatia from a question in the so called Minimum European Health Module (MEHM) in the European Union Statistics on Income and Living Conditions (EU-SILC) (19). The MEHM is also included in EHIS but data are not published (yet) by Eurostat (20). The question in the MEHM asks whether the respondent has any long-standing illness or longstanding health problem. Also SHARE includes a question on chronic or long-term health problems (21).

In addition, EHIS and SHARE include a question asking the respondents whether they have one or more of the chronic diseases listed on a show card (20, 21). The answers to these questions could be combined into a measure for the prevalence of chronic diseases in general or into a measure for the prevalence of multi-morbidity.

4.2 Cardiovascular diseases

Cardiovascular diseases (CVD) comprise a wide range of pathological conditions of the heart muscle and blood vessels. However this paragraph only focuses on ischemic heart disease (IHD) (including acute myocardial infarction (AMI)) and stroke because among the cardiovascular diseases they are responsible for the highest disease burden in terms of DALYs (22).

Key messages:

- At present, routinely updated sources of Europe-wide data on the prevalence of cardiovascular diseases (CVD) are very scarce.
- According to the EUROCISS project, data on attack rate of AMI and stroke are more readily available than data on prevalence. Attack rate of AMI and stroke are both included in the ECHI shortlist.
- Information on the prevalence of cardiovascular diseases is available from the first wave of EHIS for many EU countries. Data on the prevalence of CVD have also been collected in the Eurostat morbidity statistics pilot for many EU countries, but Eurostat will not publish the data as comparable statistics.
- For several European countries information on CVD prevalence is available from epidemiological studies, but methodological differences hampered full comparability of the data.
- The aim of the Eurostat morbidity statistics activities is to set up a regular data collection on morbidity within the European Statistical System. Furthermore, all EU Member States will probably conduct EHIS in the second wave, which is planned for 2014. Both initiatives will significantly improve the data availability for CVD prevalence and provide possibilities to monitor trends. In addition, the EuroHeart II project aims to provide the most up to date statistics on CVD in Europe.

Indicator development

The EU funded EUROCISS project (European Cardiovascular Indicators Surveillance Set, 2000-2003) has proposed a list of indicators with the aim of improving future monitoring of CVD morbidity in Europe. These indicators have been divided into three categories: 1) already available indicators; 2) those that should be implemented in the short-term (including for instance attack rate); and 3) those recommended for long-term implementation. Among the long-term implementation indicators are the prevalence of ischemic heart disease and the prevalence of stroke. The *long-term implementation indicators* need a longer period of time to be implemented, and require, for each country, the training of a dedicated team of epidemiologists to support their development (23). Therefore, according to the EUROCISS project, data on attack rate of AMI and stroke are more readily available than data on prevalence. Attack rate includes first and recurrent event and case fatality in and out of hospital (23). The activities of the EUROCISS project have contributed to the development of indicators in the ECHI project (3). Attack rate of AMI and stroke are both included in the ECHI shortlist.

EUROCISS has provided details on sources of data on cardiovascular diseases (including population-based surveys at national and regional level, HIS, HES, longitudinal studies, GP registers and population-based registers) from 16 of the 27 EU countries plus Iceland and Norway. The EU countries included Austria, Belgium, Czech Republic, Denmark, Finland, France, Germany, Greece, Hungary, Italy, the Netherlands, Poland, Portugal, Spain, Sweden and the United Kingdom (23).

In addition, the project concluded that to obtain a comprehensive picture of cardiovascular diseases, many sources of information must be integrated. For example, to distinguish between hospitalisation for first occurrence of a disease or for treatment of further episodes and to correct for early readmission. Following the experience of the Nordic countries, EUROCISS recommended that all medical and death records across Europe would adopt a personal ID. This would allow an easier and more accurate record linkage among the different sources of information (23).

Data situation and main gaps

Table 1 gives an overview of available data sources for cardiovascular disease. It is obvious that comparable data on the prevalence of CVD are scarce. Comparable data on morbidity from CVD are clearly more difficult to collect and less available than mortality data. At present, there is no routinely updated source of Europe-wide CVD morbidity data (8, 24).

Databases

The Eurostat morbidity statistics pilot has collected data on the prevalence of ischemic heart diseases (including AMI) and cerebrovascular disease. Eurostat will not publish the morbidity pilot data because they were collected to assess the feasibility of the proposed method. Countries may decide by themselves whether they want to publish the data or not.

The European health interview survey (EHIS) has also included 12-months prevalence (self-reported) of stroke, coronary heart disease and myocardial infarction (20). Not all EU countries participated in the first wave of EHIS, however. The Survey of Health, Ageing and Retirement in Europe (SHARE) also contains a question on the prevalence of coronary heart disease, myocardial infarction and stroke, but it is limited to people aged 50 years and over and not all EU countries participate in SHARE (25).

Some countries (e.g. Finland, Germany, Italy, The Netherlands, Portugal and Spain) regularly carry out examination (HES) or interview (HIS) surveys that also include cardiovascular diseases (23, 26). However, information from periodically repeated HIS is self-reported and this may not be sufficient to assess the full amount of CVD morbidity, while the high costs of clinical examination make the HES difficult to carry out. Only a few European HIS and HES studies use properly standardised and sensitive methods to assess CVD morbidity in the best way (23).

Research articles and reports

Ad hoc population based studies on CVD morbidity are usually limited to specific geographical areas (7). Truelsen et al. (2006) performed a systematic review of published population-based studies on stroke prevalence. The majority of stroke prevalence studies were from populations in Italy or the UK. There were more studies on incidence than on prevalence and there were several methodological differences that hampered full comparisons of data. The authors also compared WHO Global Burden of Disease estimates for stroke prevalence (calculated from routine mortality statistics) with estimates from 'ideal' stroke population

studies. Those estimates were in good agreement. Therefore, the authors concluded that until better and more stroke studies are available, the WHO stroke estimates may provide the best data for understanding the stroke burden in countries where no stroke data currently exist (27).

The DYNAMO-HIA project gathered age- and gender-specific data on prevalence and/or incidence and mortality of IHD and stroke in as many EU countries as possible, using existing data sources, to create an EU-wide dataset (26). The main source of data for stroke were the WHO estimates from the review of stroke prevalence and incidence in Europe by Truelsen et al. (2006). These were available for almost all of the 27 EU countries (the exceptions were Romania, Estonia and Bulgaria). The UK general practice research database ⁸ (GPRD,) and the Netherlands GP registry data were the most complete and reliable source of data for IHD and stroke. For countries for which prevalence data were missing, the DYNAMO-HIA project used DISMOD II software to estimate stroke and IHD prevalence. These estimates were based on country-specific mortality data and relative risks from the UK GPRD (26, 28). Details of the sources of data obtained for each country are described in the annex of the DYNAMO-HIA report (26).

Data on attack rate of AMI and stroke are more readily available

The Joint Action for ECHIM collected age-standardised attack rate of AMI and stroke based on combined hospital discharge and mortality data as part of the ECHIM pilot data collection. Because a relatively large proportion of stroke and AMI patients die suddenly before reaching the hospital, only a combination of mortality data and hospital discharge records can provide a complete picture of the burden of these diseases. Therefore, these data should be linked to the subject level. Due to personal data protection regulations this linkage is not possible (yet) in several countries (18).

The WHO MONICA project ⁹ (MONitoring trends and determinants in CArdiovascular disease) has examined the incidence of coronary and cerebrovascular events in 37 different populations in 21 countries (including 29 populations in 16 European countries) (29, 30). Although the data from the study were collected between mid 1980s and 1990s and the study populations were not necessarily representative of the countries, it still represents the most recent Europe-wide comparable dataset on CVD morbidity, because they were all collected and validated through the same standardised methodology (8).

The EUROCISS Project also performed an inventory of AMI and stroke population-based registers in Europe. It was concluded that although population-based registers provide the best indicators for the attack rate and case-fatality of AMI and stroke, comparability is still limited because these registers cover different age groups (ranging between 25 and 74 years or more) and use different procedures for event definition (31). The EUROCISS group has also observed that no population data or registries are currently available in Europe on heart failure (31).

Current initiatives to improve the data situation

Currently register-based data collected in the Eurostat morbidity statistics pilot are not available yet. However, the final aim of the Eurostat morbidity statistics activities is to set up a regular data collection on morbidity within the European Statistical System. Furthermore, all EU Member States will probably conduct EHIS in the second wave, which is planned for

⁸ www.gprd.com

⁹ www.kti.fi/monica

2014. Both initiatives will significantly improve the availability of data for the prevalence of cardiovascular diseases and provide possibilities to monitor trends.

Furthermore, the EuroHeart II (European Heart Health strategy II) project of the European Heart Network will report on and analyse the current situation with regard to cardiovascular and circulatory diseases in the EU. One of its objectives is to provide the most up to date statistics on CVD in Europe (including a cost of disease study in the EU) and analysing these data (32).

Table 1: Overview of available data on the prevalence of cardiovascular diseases.

Source			Availability			References
name	type of data collection (interview, examination, register)	source type (database, report, article)	countries	by sex and age groups	year of data collection and periodicity	
Database (see ann	nex 4 for indicator definition	ns)				
EHIS *	European Health Interview Survey	database (data not available yet)	BE, BG, CZ, DE, EE, EL, ES, FR, CY, LV, HU, MT, AT, PL, RO, SI, SK, CH and TR conducted a first wave of EHIS between 2006 and 2010.	by sex and 8 age groups (15-24, 25- 34, 35-44, 45-54, 55- 64, 65-74, 75-84, 85+)	first wave between 2006 and 2010. Second wave planned for 2014.	(20)
Eurostat diagnosis-specific morbidity data activities ^b	administrative sources (clinical records, insurance data), disease registers, etc.	database (data not available yet)	16 countries carried out the pilot (CZ, CY, EE, HU, LT, LV, MT, SI, SK, AT, DE, BE, DE, FI, NL, PL and RO)	by sex and by 18 age groups (0-4, 5-9,etc., 85+)	pilot study in 2007- 2009	See info on Circa ¹⁰
SHARE	interview	database	17 EU countries: 2004 (AT, BE, CH, DE, DK, ES, EL, FR, IT, NL and SE), 2006/7 (plus CZ and PL), 2008/9, 2010 (plus EE, HU, PT, SI, data for 2010 not released yet).	by sex, people aged 50 and over	4 waves: 2004, 2006/7, 2008/9, 2010 (data for 2010 not released yet)	(21, 25, 33)
Reports and artic	les					
DYNAMO-HIA	variety of sources (surveys, registries)	project report	data available for few EU-27 countries, therefore prevalence is estimated with DISMOD	age- and sex-specific data	preferably data collected since 2000	(26)

 $[\]frac{10}{http://circa.europa.eu/Public/irc/dsis/health/library?l=/methodologiessandsdatasc/diagnosis-specific\&vm=detailed\&sb=Title/dsis/health/library?l=/methodologiessandsdatasc/diagnosis-specific\&vm=detailed\&sb=Title/dsis/health/library?l=/methodologiessandsdatasc/diagnosis-specific\&vm=detailed\&sb=Title/dsis/health/library?l=/methodologiessandsdatasc/diagnosis-specific\&vm=detailed\&sb=Title/dsis/health/library?l=/methodologiessandsdatasc/diagnosis-specific\&vm=detailed\&sb=Title/dsis/health/library?l=/methodologiessandsdatasc/diagnosis-specific\&vm=detailed\&sb=Title/dsis/health/library?l=/methodologiessandsdatasc/diagnosis-specific\&vm=detailed\&sb=Title/dsis/health/library?l=/methodologiessandsdatasc/diagnosis-specific\&vm=detailed\&sb=Title/dsis/health/library?l=/methodologiessandsdatasc/diagnosis-specific\&vm=detailed\&sb=Title/dsis/health/library?l=/methodologiessandsdatasc/diagnosis-specific&vm=detailed&sb=Title/dsis/health/library?l=/methodologiessandsdatasc/diagnosis-specific&vm=detailed&sb=Title/dsis/health/library?l=/methodologiessandsdatasc/diagnosis-specific&vm=detailed&sb=Title/dsis/health/library?l=/methodologiessandsdatasc/diagnosis-specific&vm=detailed&sb=Title/dsis/health/library?l=/methodologiessandsdatasc/diagnosis-specific&vm=detailed&sb=Title/dsis/health/library?l=/methodologiessandsdatasc/diagnosis-specific&vm=detailed&sb=Title/dsis/health/library?l=/methodologiessandsdatasc/diagnosis-specific&vm=detailed&sb=Title/dsis/health/library?l=/methodologiessandsdatasc/diagnosis-specific&vm=detailed&sb=Title/dsis/health/library?l=/methodologiessandsdatasc/diagnosis-specific&vm=detailed&sb=Title/dsis/health/library?l=/methodologiessandsdatasc/diagnosis-specific&vm=detailed&sb=Title/dsis/health/library?l=/methodologiessandsdatasc/diagnosis-specific&vm=detailed&sb=Title/dsis/health/library?l=/methodologiessandsdatasc/diagnosis-specific&vm=detailed&sb=Title/dsis/health/library?l=/methodologiessandsdatasc/dsis/health/library.l=/methodologiessandsdatasc/dsis/health/library.l=/methodologiessandsdatasc/dsis/health/$

Source				References		
name	type of data collection (interview, examination, register)	source type (database, report, article)	countries	by sex and age groups	year of data collection and periodicity	
Truelsen et al., 2006	varying population- based studies, some including physical exam; WHO GBD estimates for stroke prevalence calculated from routine mortality statistics	literature review	1) prevalence studies available for ES, FI, FR, IT, NL, SE and UK; 2) WHO prevalence estimates available for all EU27 countries (except BG and RO) plus CH, IS and NO	1) by sex and different age-groups depending on study; 2) by sex and age groups (25–34, 35–44, 45–54, 55–64, 65–74, 75–84, 85+)	studies published during the period January 1993 to June 2004	(27)

^a 12-months prevalence (self-reported) for coronary heart disease, myocardial infarction and stroke ^b period prevalence of ischemic heart diseases (including AMI), heart failure and cerebrovascular disease

4.3 Cancer

There are many forms of cancer, or malignant neoplasm. In the WHO European region colorectal, breast, prostate and lung cancers are responsible for the highest disease burden in DALYs due to cancer (22). All cancers start because cells divide and grow out of control, forming malignant tumours, which can invade nearby parts of the body or spread to more distant parts of the body. Untreated cancers can cause serious illness and death.

Key messages:

- According to the EUROCHIP project, cancer prevalence proportions, trends and projections are a high priority for which indicators are already available.
- Information on cancer is much more widely available than for other diseases. This
 reflects the long tradition, of population based cancer registries in most European
 countries. These cancer registries routinely collect epidemiological indicators such as
 incidence and prevalence.
- GLOBOCAN provides prevalence estimates for all EU, EFTA, Accession and (Potential) Candidate countries using a function of incidence and observed survival.
- Information on the prevalence of cancer is available from the first wave of EHIS for many EU countries. Data on the prevalence of cancer have also been collected in the Eurostat morbidity statistics pilot for many EU countries, but Eurostat will not publish the data as comparable statistics.
- The aim of the Eurostat morbidity statistics activities is to set up a regular data collection on morbidity within the European Statistical System. Furthermore, all EU Member States will probably conduct EHIS in the second wave, which is planned for 2014. Both initiatives will significantly improve the data availability for cancer prevalence and provide possibilities to monitor trends. In addition, several projects and networks aim to improve the quality, comparability and availability of cancer data in Europe.

Indicator development

The consecutive EU funded EUROCHIP ¹¹ projects (I-III) all had the overarching aim of fighting inequalities in the field of cancer and improving information and knowledge on the disease. The EUROCHIP I project identified 'Cancer prevalence proportions, trends and projections' as a high priority for which indicators are already available on their list of indicators (34). EUROCHIP-II made several suggestions for cancer indicators to be included in the ECHI shortlist, including cancer incidence, survival, prevalence and cancer treatment quality. However, cancer prevalence was not included in the ECHI shortlist (35).

The cancer prevalence is the number of persons in a defined population who have been diagnosed with cancer, and who are still alive at the end of a given year. There is no unique definition of cancer prevalence. Total (or complete) prevalence represents the number or proportion of persons in the population alive at a certain point in time who previously had a

www.tumori.net/eurochip/

diagnosis of the disease, regardless of how long ago the diagnosis was, or if the patient is still under treatment or is considered cured. Patients who are still alive five years after diagnosis are usually considered cured since the death rates of such patients are generally similar to those in the general population. However, there are some exceptions, notably breast cancer. For breast cancer, the risk of death remains higher than normal for many more years.

Prevalence can also be decomposed by disease duration (i.e. 1-, 2-, 5- and 10-year prevalence). This so called partial prevalence limits the number of patients to those diagnosed during a fixed time in the past. This is a particularly useful measure for planning and allocation of resources, because it is relevant for estimating the needs for cancer services according to specific phases of cancer care. The resource requirements for treating newly-diagnosed patients are, namely, quite different from those for supporting long-term survivors.

Data situation and main gaps

Table 2 gives an overview of available data sources for cancer. Information on cancer is much more widely available than for other diseases. This reflects the long tradition, of population based cancer registries in most European countries. These cancer registries routinely collect epidemiological indicators such as incidence and prevalence (36). In some countries, cancer registries cover the entire population, while in others coverage only extends to limited geographical areas.

Databases

The Eurostat morbidity statistics pilot has collected data on the prevalence of all malignant neoplasms (cancer) and 13 cancer types (including malignant neoplasm of colon, rectum and anus, malignant neoplasm of trachea, bronchus and lung, malignant neoplasm of breast and malignant neoplasm of prostate). Eurostat will not publish the morbidity pilot data because they were collected to assess the feasibility of the proposed method. Countries may decide by themselves whether they want to publish the data or not.

The European health interview survey (EHIS) has also included 12-months prevalence (self-reported) of cancer (malignant tumour, also including leukaemia and lymphoma) (20). Not all EU countries participated in the first wave of EHIS, however. The Survey of Health, Ageing and Retirement in Europe (SHARE) also contains a question on the prevalence of cancer, but it is limited to people aged 50 years and over and not all EU countries participate in SHARE (25).

IARC (International Agency of Research on Cancer, part of the World Health Organization) publishes 1-, 3- and 5- year cancer prevalence estimates for the adult population (aged 15 and over) in GLOBOCAN 2008. Prevalence is based on cases diagnosed within one, three and five years because they are likely to be of relevance to the different stages of cancer therapy, namely, initial treatment (one year), clinical follow-up (three years) and cure (five years) (37, 38). Prevalence is estimated using a function of incidence and observed survival. In some countries cancer registries only cover a limited geographical area. When the information is incomplete, IARC uses statistical and mathematical models to impute the missing values and provide estimates of cancer incidence at national level.

The WHO-HfA provides the cumulative number of cancer patients (old and new cases) for 15 countries. Data are obtained from national cancer registers whenever available or from the existing routine reporting system (39).

Research articles and reports

The EUROPREVAL project provided data for the observed total, 2-, 5-, 10 and 15-year cancer prevalence at 31 December 1992. The project estimated cancer prevalence directly in population-based cancer registries by counting the number of cases still alive and present at a specified point in time. This approach requires registration and follow-up for vital status over many years. The project used standardised data collection and validation procedures (40, 41).

Bray et al., (2012) reports 1-, 2-3- and 4-5-year prevalence for the adult population (aged 15 years or over) by world region and predefined categories of human development. The information serves as input for GLOBOCAN 2008. They updated the cancer prevalence estimates in GLOBOCAN 2000 and 2002 to 2008.

The DYNAMO-HIA project has produced age- and gender-specific data on prevalence, as well as incidence, case fatality and mortality of lung, breast (only females), colorectal, oesophageal and oral cancer for 22 of the EU27 countries (42). They used the DISMOD model with the following input:

- age-specific cancer-site incidence rates from the Cancer Incidence in V Continents Vol IX (43);
- age-specific cancer-site mortality rates from WHO Mortality Database.

Gatta and colleagues in the RARECARE (Surveillance of Rare Cancers in Europe) Working Group (2010) provided European estimates for the 15-year prevalence of several rare cancers. Rare cancers are cancer with an incidence of less than 6 per 100,000 per year (44).

Current initiatives to improve the data situation

Currently register-based data collected in the Eurostat morbidity statistics pilot are not available yet. However, the final aim of the Eurostat morbidity statistics activities is to set up a regular data collection on morbidity within the European Statistical System. Furthermore, all EU Member States will probably conduct EHIS in the second wave, which is planned for 2014. Both initiatives will significantly improve the availability of data for the prevalence of cancer and provide possibilities to monitor trends.

The European Network of Cancer Registries (ENCR ¹²), established within the framework of the Europe Against Cancer Programme of the European Commission, has been in operation since 1990. The Network has the following objectives (see www.encr.com.fr):

- to improve the quality, comparability and availability of cancer incidence data;
- to create a basis for monitoring cancer incidence and mortality in the European Union;
- to provide regular information on the burden of cancer in Europe;
- to promote the use of cancer registries in cancer control, health-care planning and research.

The CaMon ¹³ project (Comprehensive Cancer Monitoring in Europe) extends the role of the ENCR beyond its broad aim of promoting cancer registration. CaMon aims to develop a cancer surveillance system for cancer occurrence and outcome (incidence, mortality,

¹² www.encr.com.fr/

¹³ www-dep.iarc.fr/hmp/camon.htm

prevalence and survival), permitting situation analysis and monitoring of cancer burden in the Member States of the European Union and applicant states.

Another relevant network is RARECAREnet ¹⁴ (Information network on rare cancers). RARECARE assessed the quality and comparability of data (including prevalence) on rare cancers across European countries. Its successor RARECAREnet aims at building an information network to provide comprehensive information on rare cancers.

The EUNICE (EU Network for Indicators on Cancer) aims to establish a common cancer database, which will be used to plan programmes of cancer control in the EU (benchmarking and scenario development) and to monitor their results.

¹⁴ www.rarecare.eu

Table 2: Overview of available data on the prevalence of cancer.

Source				Availability		References
name	type of data collection (interview, examination, register)	source type (database, report, article)	countries	by sex and age groups	year of data collection and periodicity	
Database (see ann	ex 4 for indicator definition	ns)				
EHIS	European Health Interview Survey	database (data not available yet)	BE, BG, CZ, DE, EE, EL, ES, FR, CY, LV, HU, MT, AT, PL, RO, SI, SK, CH and TR conducted a first wave of EHIS between 2006 and 2010.	by sex and 8 age groups (15-24, 25- 34, 35-44, 45-54, 55- 64, 65-74, 75-84, 85+)	first wave between 2006 and 2010. Second wave planned for 2014.	(20)
Eurostat diagnosis-specific morbidity data activities	administrative sources (clinical records, insurance data), disease registers, etc.	database (data not available yet)	16 countries carried out the pilot (CZ, CY, EE, HU, LT, LV, MT, SI, SK, AT, DE, BE, DE, FI, NL, PL and RO)	by sex and by 18 age groups (0-4, 5-9,etc., 85+)	pilot study in 2007- 2009	see info on Circa ¹⁵
GLOBOCAN	estimates based on incidence and survival	database	all EU, EFTA, Accession, Candidate and Potential Candidate countries (BE, BG, CZ, DK, DE, EE, IE, EL, ES, FR, IT, CY, LV, LT, LU, HU, MT, NL, AT, PL, PT, RO, SI, SK, FI, SE, UK, IS, NO, CH, ME, HR, MK, RS, TR, AL, BA)	by sex for population 15+, not by age groups	prevalence estimates pertain to the number of cancer cases diagnosed between 2004 and 2008 who were still alive at the end of 2008.	(37)
SHARE	interview	database	17 EU countries: 2004 (AT, BE, CH, DE, DK, ES, EL, FR, IT, NL and SE), 2006/7 (plus CZ and PL), 2008/9, 2010 (plus EE, HU, PT, SI, data for 2010 not released yet).	by sex, people aged 50 and over	4 waves: 2004, 2006/7, 2008/9, 2010 (data for 2010 not released yet)	(21, 25, 33)

¹⁵ http://circa.europa.eu/Public/irc/dsis/health/library?l=/methodologiessandsdatasc/diagnosis-specific&vm=detailed&sb=Title

Source				References		
name	type of data collection (interview, examination, register)	source type (database, report, article)	countries	by sex and age groups	year of data collection and periodicity	
WHO-HfA	registers	database	recent (since 2005) data available for BG, CZ, DK, FI, IT, LV, LT, AT, PT, RO, SI, SK, IS, NO, HR	only by sex	data are updated annually	(39)
Reports and artic	les					
DYNAMO-HIA ^a	based on incidence and mortality rates from registers	project	for 22 of the EU27 countries:	age- and gender- specific data	input data: 1998- 2002 for incidence and 2000-2002 for mortality	(42)
EUROPREVAL project ^b	registers	project	16 European countries with varying coverage: DE, DK, EE, ES, FR, IT, NL, AT, PL, SI, SK, FI, SE, UK, IS, CH	age-adjusted	1992 estimates based on cancer patients diagnosed from 1970 to 1992	(40, 41)
Bray et al., 2012°	estimates based on incidence and survival	article	averages for Northern, Western, Southern and Central and Eastern Europe	by sex for population 15+, not by age groups	prevalence estimates pertain to the number of cancer cases diagnosed between 2004 and 2008 who were still alive at the end of 2008.	(38)

^a prevalence for lung, breast (only females), colorectal, oesophageal and oral cancer ^b observed total, 2-, 5-, 10 and 15-year cancer prevalence at 31/12/1992 for the following cancers: stomach, colon, rectum, lung, breast, cervix uteri, corpus uteri and prostate cancer, as well as of melanoma of skin, Hodgkin's disease, leukaemia and all malignant neoplasms combined.

c 1-, 2-3- and 4-5-year prevalence for 26 cancers + all cancers combined

4.4 Diabetes

Diabetes is a metabolic disorder causing chronically increased levels of glucose in the blood. It can lead to complications such as blindness, heart and blood vessel disease, stroke, kidney failure, amputations, and nerve damage. Obesity is a risk factor for diabetes and the current strong increases in obesity in Europe predict a strong increase in diabetes prevalence in Europe in the near future.

Key messages:

- The prevalence of diabetes is an ECHI shortlist indicator.
- At present, routinely updated sources of Europe-wide data on the prevalence of diabetes are scarce. The IDF Diabetes Atlas is an important data source, but the underlying data come from a variety of sources and for several countries data are estimated because national data are not available.
- Information on diabetes prevalence is available from the first wave of EHIS and the ECHIM data collection pilot for many EU countries. Data on diabetes prevalence have also been collected in the Eurostat morbidity statistics pilot for many EU countries, but Eurostat will not publish the data as comparable statistics.
- For several European countries information on diabetes prevalence is available from epidemiological studies, but comparability is limited due to differences in study design.
- The aim of the Eurostat morbidity statistics activities is to set up a regular data collection on morbidity within the European Statistical System. Furthermore, all EU Member States will probably conduct EHIS in the second wave, which is planned for 2014. In addition, the EHES pilot contains measurements to estimate the number of undiagnosed cases. Finally, the EUBIROD project aims to implement a sustainable European Diabetes Register. These initiatives will significantly improve the data availability for the prevalence of diabetes and provide possibilities to monitor trends.

Indicator development

The aim of the EU funded European Diabetes Indicator Project (EUDIP 2000-2002) was the "establishment of indicators monitoring diabetes and its morbidity" on a national level. The project resulted in a set of indicators that are feasible to collect on a national basis. The availability of the data was dependent on the existing monitoring systems in the collaborating countries. Because the types of databases and data collection methods differed between countries the comparability of the national indicators was quite complicated (45). The EUDIP core indicators represent a fundamental framework for the future collection of diabetes data (46). The activities of the EUDIP project have contributed to the development of indicators in the ECHI project (3). Diabetes prevalence is included in the ECHI shortlist.

The aim of EUDIP's successor, the EUCID project (European Core Indicators for Diabetes Mellitus) was to set up a stable organisation to collect and analyse data on health status and care delivery for diabetes mellitus in the EU countries and the future Member States. This in order to promote the planning for a good diabetes health status assessment and healthcare organisation in the different countries.

The project's objectives were:

- to show the feasibility of the data collection;
- to create a stable platform for the data collection;
- to create a reporting platform for the indicators.

Data situation and main gaps

Table 3 gives an overview of available data sources for diabetes. It shows that there are many different sources of information on the prevalence of diabetes, but routinely updated sources of Europe-wide data on the prevalence of diabetes are scarce. The different data sources may provide very different figures on diabetes prevalence and therefore a good comparable analysis of diabetes data at the EU level is rather difficult (46).

Databases

Data on 12-months prevalence (self-reported) of diabetes are available from EHIS and national HIS data as, for instance, collected within the ECHIM data collection pilot (15, 16). Not all EU countries have participated in the first wave of EHIS. It is expected that all EU Member States will conduct EHIS in the second wave, which is planned for 2014.

Self-reported data will only provide a rough and incomplete estimate of the prevalence of diabetes. Therefore, the Joint Action for ECHIM has also collected register-based data on the prevalence of diabetes. Together both sources give a more complete picture. However, the attempt to collect administrative/register-based data was less successful than the collection of national HIS-based data. Only a limited number of EU countries were able to deliver register-based data according to the breakdowns requested by ECHIM (16).

The Eurostat morbidity statistics pilot, has also collected data on the prevalence of diabetes. Eurostat will not publish the morbidity pilot data because they were collected to assess the feasibility of the proposed method. Countries may decide by themselves whether they want to publish the data or not.

The International Diabetes Federation (IDF) Diabetes Atlas provides 'best estimates' for all European countries (47). The underlying data come from a variety of sources, including peer-reviewed literature, national and regional health surveys, personal communications provided by investigators in the IDF network and official reports by multinational organisations (48). For countries that do not have information on diabetes, data are estimated based on information from other countries that are matched on ethnicity, income level, and geography. IDF published its estimates also in the report 'Diabetes - The Policy Puzzle: Is Europe Making Progress?'. In this report, the estimates from the Diabetes Atlas are accompanied with prevalence figures from a variety of national sources. Similarly, data in the WHO-HfA database come from a large variety of sources (national diabetes register, routine reporting system, hospital discharges, surveys) and are considered not very well comparable (39).

Reports and articles

The EUCID project has concluded that data on diabetes prevalence were available for almost all countries. However, data could not be age-standardised for Spain, Romania, Ireland, Portugal because no age-band data were available. Furthermore, the sources for the data were still different, so that the comparability of the indicators is not optimal (45).

The DYNAMO-HIA project has gathered age- and gender-specific data on prevalence and/or incidence and mortality of diabetes from as many of the EU27 countries as possible, using

existing data sources, with the aim to create an EU-wide dataset. The project concluded that the UK GP research database ¹⁶ and the Netherlands GP registry data were the most complete and reliable source of data for diabetes. Fleming et al. (2008) also demonstrated the capacity of GP networks to deliver data on the prevalence of known diabetes (49). A disadvantage of registers is that they do not provide information on undiagnosed patients and the general population.

For countries for which prevalence data were missing, the DYNAMO-HIA project used DISMOD II software to estimate diabetes prevalence. These estimates were based on country-specific mortality data and relative risks from the UK GP research database (26, 28). Details of the sources of data obtained for each country are described in the annex of the DYNAMO-HIA report (26).

More recently, Kanavos and colleagues (2012) gathered prevalence estimates for 5 EU countries using a survey, developed to collect country-level data via interviews with key diabetes stakeholders. They also used national or regional data from a variety of sources, such as diabetes databases and the peer reviewed literature (50).

The main advantage of surveys using health examination, such as in the DECODE study, is that they provide information on both undiagnosed and diagnosed diabetes. The data in the DECODE study are somewhat outdated. Furthermore, there were differences in study design, participation rate, and classification of known diabetes because the individual surveys have been carried out independently (51).

Current initiatives to improve the data situation

Currently register-based data collected in the Eurostat morbidity statistics pilot are not available yet. However, the final aim of the Eurostat morbidity statistics activities is to set up a regular data collection on morbidity within the European Statistical System. Furthermore, all EU Member States will probably conduct EHIS in the second wave, which is planned for 2014. In addition, the EHES pilot includes measurement of fasting glucose or HbA1c. These measurements will provide information on the number of undiagnosed cases. The three initiatives will significantly improve the data availability for the prevalence of diabetes and provide possibilities to monitor trends.

The EU-co-funded project EUBIROD (EUropean Best Information through Regional Outcomes in Diabetes) aims to implement a sustainable European Diabetes Register through the coordination of existing national and/or regional frameworks and the systematic use of the technology developed by its predecessor BIRO (www.eubirod.eu) (52). Since 2008, a total of 26 partners from 21 countries joined the Consortium. Finally, a pilot European Diabetes Report will be automatically produced using the BIRO technology to collect/analyse data for 2010. These data are based on clinical records collected across nineteen European countries, using the same European standardised data definitions, statistical routines and transmission formats.

¹⁶ www.gprd.com

Table 3: Overview of available data on the prevalence of diabetes.

Source			Availability			References
name	type of data collection (interview, examination, register)	source type (database, report, article)	countries	by sex and age groups	year of data collection and periodicity	
Database (see ann	nex 4 for indicator definition	ns)				
Eurostat	European Health Interview Survey	database	17 EU countries: BE, BG, CZ, DE, EE, EL, ES, FR, CY, LV, HU, MT, AT, PL, RO, SI, SK + CH and TR. For CH data are not computed.	by sex and 8 age groups (15-24, 25- 34, 35-44, 45-54, 55- 64, 65-74, 75-84, 85+)	first wave between 2006 and 2010. Second wave planned for 2014.	(15)
Eurostat diagnosis-specific morbidity data activities	administrative sources (clinical records, insurance data), disease registers, etc.	database (data not available yet)	16 countries carried out the pilot (CZ, CY, EE, HU, LT, LV, MT, SI, SK, AT, DE, BE, DE, FI, NL, PL and RO)	by sex and by 18 age groups (0-4, 5-9,etc., 85+)	pilot study in 2007- 2009	see info on Circa
IDF Diabetes Atlas	variety of sources, including peer-reviewed literature, national and regional health surveys, personal communication and official reports by multinational organisations	database	data available from AT, BE, BG, FI, DK, DE, EL, ES, FR, IT, LU, NL PL, PT, SI, SK, HU, SE, UK, HR, IS, NO, CH, AL, TR. Estimates available for the other EU and Candidate countries.	age-standardised data for population aged 20-79 years	data for 2011 and projections for 2030 based on studies from different years since 1995 (except Sweden), depending on country. Previous editions published in 2000, 2003, 2006 and 2009.	(47, 48, 53)
JA for ECHIM data collection pilot	national health interview surveys	database	BE, DK, DE, EE, IE, FR, IT, NL, AT, CH	by sex and for age groups 15+, 15-64 and 65+	between 2005 and 2008 depending on country	(16)

¹⁷ http://circa.europa.eu/Public/irc/dsis/health/library?l=/methodologiessandsdatasc/diagnosis-specific&vm=detailed&sb=Title

	Source		Availability		References	
name	type of data collection (interview, examination, register)	source type (database, report, article)	countries	by sex and age groups	year of data collection and periodicity	
JA for ECHIM data collection pilot	administratively deduced and register-based data	database	CZ, FI, HU, LV, LT, NL and UK (the latter providing totals only).	by sex and for age groups 15-64 and 65+	pilot collection in 2010-2011	(16)
SHARE	interview	database	17 EU countries: 2004 (AT, BE, CH, DE, DK, ES, EL, FR, IT, NL and SE), 2006/7 (plus CZ and PL), 2008/9, 2010 (plus EE, HU, PT, SI, data for 2010 not released yet).	by sex, people aged 50 and over	4 waves: 2004, 2006/7, 2008/9, 2010 (data for 2010 not released yet)	(21, 25, 33)
WHO-HfA	variety of sources (National diabetes register, Routine reporting system, Hospital discharges, Surveys)	database	recent (since 2005) data available for AT, BE, CZ, DK, EE, EL, ES, FI, IT, LV, LT, MT, PT, RO, SK, UK, AL, BA and MK	only overall prevalence	data are updated annually but not all countries provide annual data.	(39)
Reports and arti	cles					<u> </u>
Danaei et al., 2011	health examination surveys, epidemiological studies, multicentre studies	review article	regional estimates for West, Central and Eastern Europe	data are sex-specific and age-standardised	trend between 1980 and 2008, based on different studies	(54)
DECODE study group, 2003	population-based studies including physical exams	research article	13 studies from nine European countries (ES, FI, IT, MT, NL, PL, SE and UK)	by sex and by age groups (30–39, 40– 49, 50–59, 60–69, 70–79, 80–89) depending on study	studies performed between 1981 and 1997	(51)

Source				References		
name	type of data collection (interview, examination, register)	source type (database, report, article)	countries	by sex and age groups	year of data collection and periodicity	
DYNAMO-HIA	variety of sources (surveys, registries)	project report	data available for few EU27 countries, therefore prevalence is estimated with DISMOD	age- and sex-specific data	preferably data collected since 2000	(26)
EUCID	interview survey, registry, administrative sources	project report	AT, BE, CY, DK, ES, FI, FR, IE, LU, NL, PT, RO, SE, England and Scotland	by age groups (0-14, 15-24, 25-34, 35-44, 45-54, 55-64, 65-74, 75-84, 85+)	2004, 2005 or 2006.	(45)
Fleming et al., 2004	the Sentinel Practice Surveillance Network (SPSN).	research article	BE, ES, FR, HR, NL, PT, SI and England	by sex and by age groups (0–24, 25–44, 45–64, 65–74, ≥75)	1999/2000	(49)
Kanavos et al., 2012	variety of sources (surveys, registries)	report	data for DE, ES, FR, IT, UK	preferably population 18+. Not by sex	different years depending on country	(50)

4.5 Respiratory diseases and allergies

Respiratory diseases and allergies include COPD (chronic obstructive pulmonary disease) asthma, and allergic rhinitis. COPD is characterised by chronic airway obstruction resulting in airflow limitation that is not fully reversible. COPD is accompanied by coughing, sputum production and/or difficulty breathing. Asthma is a chronic inflammation of the airways often caused by allergens and leading to coughing, wheezing, and difficulty breathing. Allergic rhinitis is a collection of symptoms, mostly in the nose and eyes, which occur after breathing allergic substances such as dust or pollen. The occurrence of COPD is strongly influenced by smoking history. Because of the dynamics of the smoking epidemic in Europe the occurrence of COPD may fluctuate strongly over time and by age and sex.

Key messages:

- The prevalence of asthma and COPD are ECHI shortlist indicators.
- At present, routinely updated sources of Europe-wide data on the prevalence of asthma and COPD are very scarce.
- Information on the prevalence of asthma and COPD is available from the first wave
 of EHIS and the ECHIM data collection pilot for many EU countries. Data on
 asthma and COPD prevalence have also been collected in the Eurostat morbidity
 statistics pilot for many EU countries, but Eurostat will not publish the data as
 comparable statistics.
- For several European countries information on COPD prevalence is available from epidemiological studies, but comparability is limited due to differences in study design. For asthma information on prevalence is available from two large international epidemiological studies (ECRHS and ISAAC).
- The aim of the Eurostat morbidity statistics activities is to set up a regular data collection on morbidity within the European Statistical System. Furthermore, all EU Member States will probably conduct EHIS in the second wave, which is planned for 2014. Both initiatives will significantly improve the data availability for the prevalence of diabetes and provide possibilities to monitor trends. Repetition of ECRHS and ISAAC also provides information on trends.

Indicator development

The overall aim of the EU funded IMCA project (Indicators for monitoring COPD and asthma in the EU) was to get a consensus on a proposal for a set of indicators to monitor COPD and asthma in all EU Member States. The project has defined a large number of indicators useful to monitor COPD and asthma, but only a small proportion of them are routinely available. A very large number of indicators are not available from routine health examination surveys but they could be obtained from large international epidemiological studies using standardised methods such as the European Community Respiratory Health Survey (ECRHS) and the International Study of Asthma and Allergies in Childhood (ISAAC) (55).

The first aim of the successor of the earlier mentioned IMCA project, IMCA II, has been to extend the work on indicators already carried out by the IMCA I project. It intends to do this by collecting or using already available data from completed European-wide research projects (ECRHS, ISAAC and Asthma Insights & Reality in Europe (AIRE)) and producing reports/papers on all groups of indicators recommended (mortality, prevalence, risk factors, clinical management/health services and outcomes) (56). The second aim was to develop a module of COPD and asthma to be incorporated into health examination surveys and testing its feasibility and pilot performance in five selected small geographical areas of Spain, Italy (two areas), Sweden and Germany (56). Currently a lung function test is an optional measurement in the EHES pilot.

The activities of the IMCA project have contributed to the development of indicators in the ECHI project (3). Both COPD prevalence as well as asthma prevalence is included in the ECHI shortlist.

Data situation and main gaps

Table 4 and 5 give an overview of available data sources on COPD, asthma and allergic rhinitis. It shows that routinely updated sources of Europe-wide data on the prevalence of asthma and COPD are very scarce. Information is available from epidemiological studies, but they are difficult to compare due to a lack of consensus on the methods and definitions. This is especially the case for COPD. For asthma prevalence, information is available from large multicenter epidemiological studies using standardised methodology.

Databases

Data on 12-months prevalence (self-reported) of asthma and COPD are available from EHIS and national HIS data that have been collected within the ECHIM data collection pilot (15, 16). Not all countries participated in the first wave of EHIS. Self-reported COPD and asthma prevalence is also available from the SHARE survey. Self-reported data will only provide an estimate of prevalence of asthma en COPD prevalence.

The Eurostat morbidity statistics pilot also collected data on the prevalence of asthma and COPD. Eurostat will not publish the Eurostat morbidity pilot data because they were collected to assess the feasibility of the proposed method. Countries may decide themselves whether they want to publish the data.

ECHIM has also collected register-based data on the prevalence of COPD and asthma. However, this attempt to collect administrative/register-based data was less successful than the collection of national HIS based data. Only few countries were able to deliver register-based data according to the breakdowns requested by ECHIM (16). The WHO-HfA database also provides register-based data on COPD prevalence, but the data come from a great variety of sources and therefore their comparability is limited (39).

Reports and articles

According to the IMCA project the information provided by epidemiological studies is often difficult to compare due to a lack of consensus on the methods and definitions, especially with regard to COPD (55). However, several recent international guidelines or research initiatives, such as the Burden of Obstructive Lung Disease study (BOLD), have boosted a substantial standardisation of methodology in data collection and have resulted in the availability of more comparable epidemiological estimates across countries (57).

In a review, Atsou et al. (2011) identified 32 studies on COPD prevalence from 13 European countries and the cross-national ECRHS. In the majority of studies COPD was assessed with spirometry (20 studies) (57). In 3 studies COPD was assessed on the basis of symptoms, in 6 on physician reports and in 3 on models. Earlier, Halbert et al. (2003) also identified 32 sources of COPD prevalence rates, representing 17 countries and also including the ECRHS. Prevalence estimates were based on spirometry (11 studies), respiratory symptoms (14 studies), patient-reported disease (10 studies), or expert opinion (58). In 2006, Halbert et al. also performed a meta-analysis. A total of 62 studies reported 101 overall prevalence estimates from 28 different countries, 17 of which were European (59).

The DYNAMO-HIA project gathered age- and gender-specific data on prevalence and/or incidence and mortality of COPD in as many of the EU27 countries as possible, using existing data sources. Different institutions and projects make use of slightly differing definitions and these different definitions can lead to different estimates of the occurrence of COPD within a population. In the DYNAMO-HIA project it was pragmatically decided to include COPD defined according to all different criteria. Nevertheless, the search showed that COPD data is scarce (60). The UK GP research database ¹⁸ and the Netherlands GP registry data were the most complete and reliable source of data for COPD. COPD prevalence data were available for few countries. For the other EU countries (except Austria, Bulgaria, Cyprus, Luxembourg, Malta, Romania and Slovenia) prevalence was estimated with DISMOD II software based on relative risks from the UK GP research database and 'proxy-incidence' based on smoking (28, 60). A detailed overview of COPD data availability and quality in the 27 EU countries is given in the annex of the DYNAMO-HIA report (60).

In the DYNAMO-HIA project the reliability of the SHARE data (and other self-reported surveys) was questioned a-priori as it is based on self-report and in different countries there might be differing diagnostic approaches and ways to communicate COPD. According to the DYNAMO-HIA project COPD prevalence patterns in the second wave of the SHARE study (collected 2006/07) are not plausible because e.g. in contrast with existing evidence, COPD prevalence from SHARE for several countries is similar for both sexes, or even higher for women in some countries (60). The BOLD study, based on questionnaires and spirometry, also gave unexpectedly high prevalence figures for three EU countries included in DYNAMO-HIA (61, 62). The 'Confronting COPD International Survey' collects self-reported data as well. It focuses on costs, symptoms and hospitalisations and therefore, it does not provide detailed data on incidence and prevalence (60, 63-67). Because COPD is a chronic disease with sometimes few symptoms, self-reporting data can be of lesser quality than for more 'permanent' chronic diseases (60).

According to a review by Ozdoganoglu and Songu (2012) there are insufficient epidemiologic data on asthma and allergic rhinitis. They also conclude that differences in study selection criteria, survey methods and diagnostic criteria contribute to the wide range of reported prevalence rates of allergic rhinitis in Europe (68). However, in the early 1990s, two large studies were set up which have standardised methods for data collection on asthma and allergies. The first one was ISAAC focusing on children (69). The study was repeated in ISAAC phase III to provide information on trends (70). The second was the ECRHS focusing on young to middle aged adults (71). The AIRE study has used telephone interviews for data collection and included patients from all age groups with current asthma (72).

From the year 2000 onwards few data on asthma have been published. A review by von Hertzen and Haahtela (2005) and another one by Anandan et al. (2010) have analysed the most recent literature on time trends in asthma prevalence among children and adults (73, 74).

.

¹⁸ www.gprd.com

Current initiatives to improve the data situation

Currently register-based data collected in the Eurostat morbidity statistics pilot are not available yet. However, the final aim of the Eurostat morbidity statistics activities is to set up a regular data collection on morbidity within the European Statistical System. Furthermore, all EU Member States will probably conduct EHIS in the second wave, which is planned for 2014. Both initiatives will significantly improve the data availability for the prevalence of COPD and asthma and provide possibilities to monitor trends.

In phase III of the ECRHS participants are currently followed up for a second time. One of the aims of the ECRHS III is to describe changes in the prevalence of respiratory symptom in adults as they age (75). Furthermore, the members of the Global Allergy and Asthma European Network (GA²LEN) carry out the GA²LEN epidemiological survey. This is a new study to assess the prevalence and trends in prevalence of allergic and airway diseases, such as asthma. The study is extending the method of the ECRHS to study a wider age range and to include other conditions such as chronic rhino-sinusitis (76).

Table 4: Overview of available data on the prevalence of COPD.

	Source			Availability		References
name	type of data collection (interview, examination, register)	source type (database, report, article)	countries	by sex and age groups	year of data collection and periodicity	
Database (see ann	ex 4 for indicator definition	ns)				
Eurostat	European Health Interview Survey	database	17 EU countries: BE, BG, CZ, DE, EE, EL, ES, FR, CY, LV, HU, MT, AT, PL, RO, SI, SK + CH and TR. For DE and CH data are not computed.	by sex and 8 age groups (15-24, 25- 34, 35-44, 45-54, 55- 64, 65-74, 75-84, 85+)	first wave between 2006 and 2010. Second wave planned for 2014.	(15)
Eurostat diagnosis-specific morbidity data activities	administrative sources (clinical records, insurance data), disease registers, etc.	database (data not available yet)	16 countries carried out the pilot (CZ, CY, EE, HU, LT, LV, MT, SI, SK, AT, DE, BE, DE, FI, NL, PL and RO)	by sex and by 18 age groups (0-4, 5-9,etc., 85+)	pilot study in 2007- 2009	see info on Circa ¹⁹
JA for ECHIM data collection pilot	national health interview surveys	database	BE, DK, DE, EE, FR, IT, AT, FI	by sex and for age groups 15+, 15-64 and 65+	between 2005 and 2008 depending on country	(16)
JA for ECHIM data collection pilot	administratively deduced and/or register-based data	database	CZ, HU, LT, NL, FI, and UK, whereas the latter delivered only data on totals	by sex and for age groups 15-64 and 65+	pilot collection in 2010-2011	(16)
SHARE	interview	database	17 EU countries: 2004 (AT, BE, CH, DE, DK, ES, EL, FR, IT, NL and SE), 2006/7 (plus CZ and PL), 2008/9, 2010 (plus EE, HU, PT, SI, data for 2010 not released yet).	by sex, people aged 50 and over	4 waves: 2004, 2006/7, 2008/9, 2010 (data for 2010 not released yet)	(21, 25, 33)

_

¹⁹ http://circa.europa.eu/Public/irc/dsis/health/library?l=/methodologiessandsdatasc/diagnosis-specific&vm=detailed&sb=Title

	Source			Availability		References
name	type of data collection (interview, examination, register)	source type (database, report, article)	countries	by sex and age groups	year of data collection and periodicity	
WHO-HfA	register	database	recent (since 2005) data available for AL, BA, BE, CZ, CH, DE, EL, FI, HR, HU, IE, LT, MK, MT, NL, NO, RO, SK, UK	only overall prevalence	data are updated annually but not all countries provide annual data.	(39)
Reports and artic	les					
Atsou et al., 2011	studies using different criteria to identify COPD based on symptoms, physician reports, spirometry and models.	review article	AT, DE, DK, EL, ES, FI, FR, IT, NL, NO, PL, SE, UK + ECRHS countries	different age groups depending on study	studies published between 1991 and 2009	Atsou et al., 2011
BOLD study	spirometry testing plus questionnaires about respiratory symptoms	research article	AT, DE, IS, PL, NO, TR	by sex and age groups (40–49, 50– 59, 60–69, 70+)	2006	(61, 62)
DYNAMO-HIA	variety of sources (surveys, registries)	project report	data available for few EU27 countries, therefore prevalence is estimated with DISMOD	sex- and age-specific data for age > 40 years	not specified	(60)
ECRHS	questionnaire	research article	10 EU countries (BE, DE, DK, ES, IE, FR, IT, NL, SE, UK) + IS, NO, CH	by sex, adults aged 20 to 44 years	phase 1: beginning of the 1990s. phase 2: 1998-2002,pPhase 3: currently	(77)

	Source				References	
name	type of data collection (interview, examination, register)	source type (database, report, article)	countries	by sex and age groups	year of data collection and periodicity	
Halbert et al., 2003	estimates were based on spirometry (11 studies), respiratory symptoms (14 studies), patient-reported disease (10 studies), or expert opinion	review article	DK, EE, ES, FI, IS, IT, NO, SE, England + ECRHS countries	by sex and different age groups depending on study	studies published between 1962 - 2001	(58)
Halbert et al., 2006	different diagnostic criteria (chronic productive cough, spirometry, patient- reported diagnosis, physician diagnosis or physical/radiographic findings)	review article	CZ, DK, EE, ES, FI, FR, IT, LT, NO, PL, RO, SE, CH, TR, UK and Scotland	pooled estimates by sex and for age groups <40 yrs, ≥40 yrs, 40–64 yrs and ≥65 yrs	studies published between 1990–2004	(59)

Table 5: Overview of available data on the prevalence of asthma and allergic rhinitis.

	Source			Availability		References
name	type of data collection (interview, examination, register)	source type (database, report, article)	countries	by sex and age groups	year of data collection and periodicity	
Database (see ann	ex 4 for indicator definition	ns)				
Eurostat	European Health Interview Survey ^a	database	17 EU countries: BE, BG, CZ, DE, EE, EL, ES, FR, CY, LV, HU, MT, AT, PL, RO, SI, SK + CH and TR. For CH data are not computed.	by sex and 8 age groups (15-24, 25- 34, 35-44, 45-54, 55- 64, 65-74, 75-84, 85+)	first wave between 2006 and 2010. Second wave planned for 2014.	(15)
Eurostat diagnosis-specific morbidity data activities	administrative sources (clinical records, insurance data), disease registers, etc.	database (data not available yet)	16 countries carried out the pilot (CZ, CY, EE, HU, LT, LV, MT, SI, SK, AT, DE, BE, DE, FI, NL, PL and RO)	by sex and by 18 age groups (0-4, 5-9,etc., 85+)	pilot study in 2007- 2009	see info on Circa ²⁰
JA for ECHIM data collection pilot	national health interview surveys	database	BE, DK, DE, EE, FR, IT, AT, FI (for the latter reported, not diagnosed)	by sex and for age groups 15+	between 2005 and 2008 depending on country	(16)
JA for ECHIM data collection pilot	administratively deduced and/or register-based data	database	CZ, HU, LT, NL, FI, and UK, although the latter delivered estimates on totals	by sex and for age groups 0-14 and 15+	pilot collection in 2010-2011	(16)
SHARE	interview	database	17 EU countries: 2004 (AT, BE, CH, DE, DK, ES, EL, FR, IT, NL and SE), 2006/7 (plus CZ and PL), 2008/9, 2010 (plus EE, HU, PT, SI, data for 2010 not released yet).	by sex, people aged 50 and over	4 waves: 2004, 2006/7, 2008/9, 2010 (data for 2010 not released yet)	(21, 25, 33)

_

 $[\]frac{20}{\text{http://circa.europa.eu/Public/irc/dsis/health/library?l=/methodologiessandsdatasc/diagnosis-specific\&vm=detailed\&sb=Title}$

	Source			References		
name	type of data collection (interview, examination, register)	source type (database, report, article)	countries	by sex and age groups	year of data collection and periodicity	
Reports and a	articles					
AIRE	telephone interviews	research article	ES, UK, FR, DE, NL, SE and IT	children with asthma (age < 16 years)		(72)
ECRHS	questionnaire for asthma, skin prick tests for allergic rhinitis	research articles	15 EU countries (AT, BE, DE, DK, EE, EL, ES, FR, IE, IT, NL, PL, PT, SE, UK) plus CH, IS and NO	age- and sex- standardised for adults aged 20 to 44 years	phase 1: beginning of the 1990s. phase 2: 1998-2002, phase 3: currently	(78-80)
ISAAC	questionnaire	research articles	phase 3: 19 EU countries (AT, BE, BG, DE, EE, EL, ES, IE, FI, HU, IT, LV, LT, NL, PL, PT, RO, SE UK) plus HR, AL, RS and ME	children aged 13–14 and 6–7 years	phase 1: 1993-1995; phase 2: 1998; phase 3: 2001-2003	(69, 70, 81)

^a a question on 12-months prevalence of allergy, such as rhinitis, eye inflammation, dermatitis, food allergy or other (allergic asthma excluded) is also included in EHIS, but data are not available on the Eurostat website yet.

4.6 Mental disorders (depression)

Mental disorders include affective mood disorders (such as depression), anxiety disorders, schizophrenia and, for instance, eating disorders. In this paragraph the overview of available data will be mainly limited to depression because of all mental disorders, depression is responsible for the highest disease burden in DALYs in the WHO European region (22). Early detection and treatment are important to lessen this disease burden and opportunities for prevention have not been fully implemented yet.

Key messages:

- The prevalence of depression is an ECHI shortlist indicator.
- At present, routinely updated sources of Europe-wide data on the prevalence of depression are scarce.
- Information on depression prevalence is available from the first wave of EHIS and the ECHIM data collection pilot for many EU countries. Data on depression prevalence have also been collected in the Eurostat morbidity statistics pilot for many EU countries, but Eurostat will not publish the data as comparable statistics.
- For several European countries information on depression prevalence is available
 from epidemiological studies, but comparability is limited due to differences in study
 design. An exception is ESEMeD. ESEMeD is a multi site survey that uses
 standardised mental health instruments.
- The aim of the Eurostat morbidity statistics activities is to set up a regular data
 collection on morbidity within the European Statistical System. Furthermore, all EU
 Member States will probably conduct EHIS in the second wave, which is planned for
 2014. Both initiatives will significantly improve the data availability for depression
 prevalence and provide possibilities to monitor trends.

Indicator development

The overall aim of the MINDFUL project was to improve the status of mental health information within the European Union. It built upon previous work to establish indicators for mental health monitoring in Europe (82). The MINDFUL project recommended a final set of 35 mental health indicators, including the prevalence of major depression assessed by a health interview (CIDI-SF) (83). The activities of the MINDFUL project have contributed to the development of indicators in the ECHI project (3). Depression prevalence is included in the ECHI indicator shortlist.

Data situation and main gaps

Table 6 gives an overview of available data sources for depression. It shows that at present, routinely updated source of Europe-wide data on the prevalence of depression are scarce. However, for several European countries information on depression prevalence is available from epidemiological studies.

Databases

Data on 12-months prevalence (self-reported) of depression is available from EHIS and national HIS data collected within the ECHIM data collection pilot (15, 16). In answering the EHIS question respondents have to indicate whether they were diagnosed by a doctor. EHIS also includes anxiety and other mental health problems. Not all countries participated in the first wave of EHIS.

The SHARE study has also attempted to take into account mental health by including questions on psychological symptoms. Although SHARE is a multi centre study using a common harmonised methodology, SHARE does not provide morbidity data derived from validated mental health scales. Interpretation of the data in terms of psychiatric diagnoses is therefore difficult (46). The SHARE schedules include the EURO-D scale which has been validated in an earlier cross-European study of depression prevalence, EURODEP (84, 85).

The Eurostat morbidity statistics pilot has collected registry-based data on the prevalence of depression as well as data on schizophrenia, anxiety, eating disorders and mental and behavioural disorders due to use of psychoactive substances. Eurostat will not publish the morbidity pilot data because they were collected to assess the feasibility of the proposed method. Countries can decide themselves whether they want to publish the data.

The Joint Action for ECHIM has also collected register-based data on the prevalence of depression. However, this attempt to collect administrative/register-based data was less successful than the collection of national HIS based data. Only few countries were able to deliver register-based data according to the breakdowns requested by ECHIM (16).

The MINDFUL project has resulted in an online MINDFUL database with metadata and numerical data on mental health indicators. This databases contains morbidity data for any anxiety disorder, major depression, hazardous and harmful drinking and suicide attempts for all 27 EU Member States (except Romania and Bulgaria) (86). The data availability varies significantly, however, between indicators and countries. Data on depression prevalence are available for five countries only (83). The WHO-HfA database also contains some data on the prevalence of mental disorders, but not on the prevalence of depression alone. Furthermore, the data come from a great variety of sources and therefore comparability is limited (39).

Both EHIS and registry-based data might result in underestimation of depression prevalence, because many people with depressive symptoms do not seek professional help and therefore they will not be diagnosed with depression. Moreover, physicians who are not specialised in mental disorders (e.g. GPs) will not always fully recognise depressive symptoms. Therefore, epidemiological surveys using more comprehensive measurement instruments tend to find higher prevalence estimates than estimates based on registered and diagnosed cases (18).

Reports and articles

The World Mental Health surveys are a series of community-based studies using comprehensive measurement instruments, namely the CIDI (87, 88). This initiative is promoted by WHO. The objective of the EU funded project European Contribution to the WMH Surveys Initiative (EU-WMH) in 2009-2011 has been to produce and disseminate new and valid information on the mental health situation in Europe in a way that is useful for monitoring health policy reforms in Europe. The project has included the 6 countries participating in the European Study of Epidemiology on Mental Disorders (ESEMeD) (Belgium, France, Germany, Italy, the Netherlands and Spain) plus Bulgaria, Northern Ireland, Portugal and Romania (89).

Because most surveys are not designed as replications with standardised methods, differences in study design might influence comparability between the studies included in the WMH Survey Initiative. Furthermore, cultural differences in the acceptance and meaning of question items might influence comparability and therefore translation protocols are important. The ESEMeD study, however, is one of the few multi site surveys using standardised mental health instruments that are currently available. The data for the European countries included in the WMH survey comes from ESEMeD (87, 90). The PREDICT study among general practice attendees is another multi site study using standardised instruments (91).

Data from ESEMeD are also included in a systematic review of Wittchen and Jacobi (92). This review included data from national surveys as well as data from cross-national comparisons (ESEMeD, DEPRES and ODIN). The review was a result of a Task Force commissioned by the European College of Neuropsychopharmacology (ECNP) and the European Brain Council (EBC). The ECNP and EBC represent professional and health care institutions for mental and neurological disorders. The aim of this Task Force was to conduct a systematic analysis of all available epidemiological studies in the EU. This was prompted by the lack of EU-specific, comprehensive data on the size, burden and cost of mental and neurological disorders.

Wittchen and Jacobi published an update of their 2005 review in 2011 (92, 93). The authors mentioned several limitations of the studies they have identified. It was, for instance, not always possible to account for the different methodologies used in the different studies. Therefore, total European prevalence estimates should be regarded with some caution. For many countries no epidemiological data were available on the majority of diagnoses. For calculating total European prevalence estimates, it has been assumed that the prevalence estimates from some EU countries can be generalised to other EU countries, but this assumption needs future investigation. Studies typically cover only one diagnosis, or a restricted set of diagnoses. The authors concluded that there is a strong need for greater coordination and even standardisation of methods to improve the quality and comparability of epidemiological data in the EU (92, 93). In addition, Paykel et al., (2005) concluded that there is a gap in information for countries in central and Eastern Europe (94).

Several Eurobarometers also contain questions on mental health (psychological distress and negative feelings, but not depression). The Eurobarometers use validated instruments used in the same way in all countries. However, comparability might be hampered by difficulties in the translation of terms relating to psychological symptoms and the relatively low sample sizes. Furthermore, the acceptance of mental health problems and self-reporting them varies between countries and this may influence the frequency of positive answers (46, 95, 96)

Recently, a multi-country study based on the European Social Survey has been published. In this study the eight-item version of the Center for Epidemiological Studies Depression Scale (CES-D) was used. However, the CES-D was constructed to identify populations at risk for developing depressive disorders. It should not be used as a clinical diagnostic tool by itself (97).

Current initiatives to improve the data situation

Currently register-based data collected in the Eurostat morbidity statistics pilot are not available yet. However, the final aim of the Eurostat morbidity statistics activities is to set up a regular data collection on morbidity within the European Statistical System. Furthermore, all EU Member States will probably conduct EHIS in the second wave, which is planned for 2014. Both initiatives will significantly improve the data availability for depression prevalence and provide possibilities to monitor trends.

Table 6: Overview of available data on the prevalence of depression.

	Source			Availability		References
name	type of data collection (interview ^a , examination, register)	source type (database, report, article)	countries	by sex and age groups	year of data collection and periodicity	
Database (see ann	ex 4 for indicator definition	ns)				
Eurostat	European Health Interview Survey	database	17 EU countries: BE, BG, CZ, DE, EE, EL, ES, FR, CY, LV, HU, MT, AT, PL, RO, SI, SK + CH and TR. For AT, EE, DE and CH data are not computed.	by sex and 8 age groups (15-24, 25- 34, 35-44, 45-54, 55- 64, 65-74, 75-84, 85+)	first wave between 2006 and 2010. Second wave planned for 2014.	(15)
Eurostat diagnosis-specific morbidity data activities	administrative sources (clinical records, insurance data), disease registers, etc.	database (data not available yet)	16 countries carried out the pilot (CZ, CY, EE, HU, LT, LV, MT, SI, SK, AT, DE, BE, DE, FI, NL, PL and RO)	by sex and by 18 age groups (0-4, 5-9,etc., 85+)	pilot study in 2007- 2009	see info on Circa ²¹
JA for ECHIM data collection pilot	national health interview surveys	database	BE, DK, DE, EE, IE, FR, IT, NL, AT, CH	by sex and age groups 15+, 15-64 and 65+	between 2005 and 2008 depending on country	(16)
JA for ECHIM data collection pilot	administratively deduced and/or register-based data	database	CZ, EE, FI, HU, LV, LT, NL and UK (the latter providing totals only).	by sex and for age groups 15-64 and 65+	pilot collection in 2010-2011	(16)
MINDFUL	interview (CIDI-SF)	project database	DE, EL, FI, FR, NL	age- and sex- adjusted, age groups depending on national surveys	DE, FR, EL 2001; NL 1996, FI 1996, 2001	(83)

 $^{{}^{21}\ \}underline{http://circa.europa.eu/Public/irc/dsis/health/library?l=/methodologiessandsdatasc/diagnosis-specific\&vm=detailed\&sb=\underline{Title}$

	Source				References	
name	type of data collection (interview ^a , examination, register)	source type (database, report, article)	countries	by sex and age groups	year of data collection and periodicity	
SHARE	interview (EURO-D scale)	database	17 EU countries: 2004 (AT, BE, CH, DE, DK, ES, EL, FR, IT, NL and SE), 2006/7 (plus CZ and PL), 2008/9, 2010 (plus EE, HU, PT, SI, data for 2010 not released yet).	by sex, people aged 50 and over	4 waves: 2004, 2006/7, 2008/9, 2010 (data for 2010 not released yet)	(21, 25, 33, 98)
WHO-HfA ^b	registers	database	recent (since 2005) data available for BA, BG, CZ, DK, EE, FI, HU, LV, LT, PL, RO, SK	only overall prevalence	data are updated annually	(39)
Reports and artic	cles					
DEPRES	interview (MINI)	research article	BE, DE, ES, FR, NL, and UK	by sex and age groups (<34, 35-44, 45,54, 55-64, 65>)	data collected in 1994 and 1995	(99)
ESEMeD	diagnostic interview (CIDI)	research article	BE, DE, ES, FR, IT, NL	by sex and age groups (18-24, 25- 34, 35-49, 50-64, 65+)	data collected between 2001-3	(90, 100)
EURODEP	interview (EURO-D scale)	research article	AL, BE, DE, ES, IE, IT, IS, FI, FR, NL, PT, SE, UK	by sex and 5 years age groups for population aged 65+	studies performed between 1983-1996	(84, 85, 101)
PREDICT study	CIDI (among general practice attendees)	research article	EE, ES, NL, PT, SI, UK	by sex and age (people aged 18-76)	study conducted between 2003-2004	(91)
Paykel et al., 2005	diagnostic interview (CIDI, CIS-R/SCAN)	literature review	DE, FI, FR, IT, NL, UK + ESEMeD	by sex and different age groups depending on study	studies performed between 1993-2002	(94)

Source				References		
name	type of data collection (interview ^a , examination, register)	source type (database, report, article)	countries	by sex and age groups	year of data collection and periodicity	
WHO WMH Survey Initiative	diagnostic interview (CIDI)	research article	BE, DE, ES, FR, IT, NL (data from ESEMeD)	by sex and age groups (18-34, 35- 49, 50-64, 65+)	studies performed between 2001-2007	(87, 88, 102)
Wittchen and Jacobi, 2011	studies using established diagnostic instruments, reanalyses of existing data sets, national surveys and expert consultations	literature review	BE, CH, CZ, DE, DK, FI, FR, HU, IS, IT, NL, NO, SE, UK	age- and sex-specific average EU estimates	studies published between 1990-2010	(92, 93)

^a CIS-R = clinical interview schedule-revised, SCAN = Schedules for Clinical Assessment in Neuropsychiatry, CIDI = Composite International Diagnostic Interview
^b Mental disorders prevalence

4.7 Neurodegenerative disorders

Neurodegenerative diseases are characterised by progressive nervous system dysfunction. These disorders are often associated with atrophy of the affected central or peripheral structures of the nervous system. They include many different disorders. This paragraph, however, is limited to dementia (Alzheimer's Disease), Parkinson's disease and multiple sclerosis, because these are the neurodegenerative disorders which are responsible for the highest disease burden in DALYs in the WHO European region (22).

4.7.1 Dementia

Key messages:

- The prevalence of dementia is an ECHI shortlist indicator.
- At present, there is no routinely updated source of Europe-wide data on the prevalence of dementia.
- The Eurostat morbidity statistics pilot has collected data on the prevalence of dementia, but Eurostat will not publish the data as comparable statistics.
- The EuroCode project provided country-specific estimates based on estimated European average prevalence rates.
- The aim of the Eurostat morbidity statistics activities is to set up a regular data
 collection on morbidity within the European Statistical System. This will
 significantly improve the availability of data on dementia prevalence and provide
 possibilities to monitor trends. The Joint Action ALCOVE also aims to improve
 knowledge on the prevalence of dementia.

Indicator development

The developmental work of Alzheimer Europe has resulted in the inclusion of dementia prevalence in the ECHI shortlist. Alzheimer Europe is a non-profit organisation which aims to improve the care and treatment of Alzheimer patients through intensified collaboration between its member associations.

Data situation and main gaps

Table 7 gives an overview of available data sources for dementia. It shows that currently there is no routinely updated source of Europe-wide data on the prevalence of dementia. Prevalence in the EU Member States can only be roughly estimated. Disease registers do not exists and population-based surveys are usually not feasible due to methodological reasons.

Databases

The Eurostat morbidity statistic pilot has also collected data on the prevalence of dementia. Eurostat will not publish the morbidity pilot data because they were collected to assess the feasibility of the proposed method. Countries can decide themselves whether they want to publish the data.

Dementia is also included in a question in the SHARE study, which asks the respondents whether they have a specific chronic disease listed on a show card (21). However, a health interview survey-based estimate is not recommended for dementia as people with dementia are often not reached and if they are reached, they may not answer that they have dementia.

Reports and articles

The most recent estimates are available from the EuroCoDe project (European Collaboration on Dementia) that has been lead by Alzheimer Europe. EuroCoDe's country-specific estimates are based on age distribution statistics for European countries provided by Eurostat and on estimated European average prevalence rates from the EURODEM group and from a study by Ferri et al. (2005) (103). In addition, EuroCoDe has pooled data from 31 studies from 12 (mostly Western European) countries to provide prevalence rates for 8 different age groups (60-64, 65-69, 70-74, 75-79, 80-84, 85-89, 90-94 and 95+) (104, 105). Recently Kiejna et al. (as part of the EUROCoDe project) concluded that there are very few epidemiological studies from Eastern and Middle Europe (106).

An estimation of the total number of people with dementia in each of the EU27 countries, Iceland, Norway and Switzerland is also provided by Gustavsson (2011). This study was based on a review of published articles and was commissioned by the European Brain Council (EBC). For countries for which data was either not available or for which the data did not provide sufficient detail, the available evidence for countries *with* data has been extrapolated to countries *without* adequate data (107).

Current initiatives to improve the data situation

Currently register-based data collected in the Eurostat morbidity statistics pilot are not available yet. However, the final aim of the Eurostat morbidity statistics activities is to set up a regular data collection on morbidity within the European Statistical System. This will significantly improve the data availability for dementia prevalence and provide possibilities to monitor trends.

One of the aims of the Joint Action ALCOVE, which started in 2010, is to improve knowledge on prevalence of dementia and the exposure of people with dementia to psychotropic drugs. The operational objectives of work package 4 of ALCOVE, which focuses on dementia prevalence, are (108):

- 1. Assessment of available epidemiological studies on prevalence of dementia in relation with the previous EuroCoDe results and recommendations by other European organisations (European Alzheimer's Disease Consortium);
- 2. Investigation of the possibility to collect data on early cognitive deficiencies (SHARE, EHES, etc.);
- 3. Assessment of national information systems other than epidemiological registries or studies:
- 4. Assessment of the exposure of patients with dementia to psychotropic drugs.

Table 7: overview of available data on the prevalence of dementia.

	Source			Availability			
name	type of data collection (interview, examination, register)	source type (database, report, article)	countries	by sex and age groups	year of data collection and periodicity		
Database (see ann	ex 4 for indicator definition	ns)					
Eurostat diagnosis-specific morbidity data activities	administrative sources (clinical records, insurance data), disease registers, etc.	database (data not available yet)	16 countries carried out the pilot (CZ, CY, EE, HU, LT, LV, MT, SI, SK, AT, DE, BE, DE, FI, NL, PL and RO)	by sex and 18 age groups (0-4, 5-9,etc., 85+)	pilot study in 2007- 2009	see info on Circa ²²	
SHARE	interview	database	17 EU countries: 2004 (AT, BE, CH, DE, DK, ES, EL, FR, IT, NL and SE), 2006/7 (plus CZ and PL), 2008/9, 2010 (plus EE, HU, PT, SI, data for 2010 not released yet).	by sex, people aged 50 and over	4 waves: 2004, 2006/7, 2008/9, 2010 (data for 2010 not released yet)	(25, 33)	
Reports and artic	les						
EUROCoDe Project lead by Alzheimer Europe	Systematic literature review and meta-analysis of high quality studies	report	31 studies from 12 countries identified (BE, DE, DK, ES, FR, IT, NL, PL, SE, UK and CH). High quality studies selected from DE, DK, ES, FR, IT, NL, PL, SE and CH	pooled prevalence rates by sex and for 8 different age groups (60-64, 65-69, 70-74, 75-79, 80-84, 85-89, 90-94 and 95+).	studies performed between 1990 and 2005	(109)	

_

http://circa.europa.eu/Public/irc/dsis/health/library?l=/methodologiessandsdatasc/diagnosis-specific&vm=detailed&sb=Title

	Source			Availability		References
name	type of data collection (interview, examination, register)	source type (database, report, article)	countries	by sex and age groups	year of data collection and periodicity	
EUROCoDe Project lead by Alzheimer Europe	country-specific estimates based on population statistics provided by Eurostat and on European average prevalence rates from the EURODEM-group and from a study by Ferri et al. (2005).	report	EU and EFTA (except Liechtenstein) countries plus TR	by sex and by age groups (30-59, 60-64, 65-69, 70-74, 75-79, 80-84, 85-89, 90-94 and 95-99).	see Ferri et al., 2005 and EURODEM	(103)
EURODEM ^a	studies which used an individual examination (e.g. diagnostic interview)	research article	DE, ES, FI, IT, NL, NO, SE, UK	by sex and nine different age groups (30-59, 60-64, 65-69, 70-74, 75-79, 80-84, 85-89, 90-94 and 95-99).	studies performed between 1971 and 1990	(110)
Ferri et al., 2005 ^b	Ferri et al. developed their prevalence rates through a DELPHI approach i.e. based on a consensus statement by experts in the field of dementia and not directly from epidemiological studies.	research article	3 WHO European regions (Euro-A, Euro-B and Euro-C)	five year age groups from 60 to 84 years and for people over 85	2001, projections for 2020 and 2040	(111)

^a European average prevalence rate of diagnosed cases of dementia (DSM-III or equivalent) or Alzheimer. ^b consensual prevalence estimates.

4.7.2 Parkinson's disease

Key messages:

- The prevalence of Parkinson's disease is not an ECHI shortlist indicator.
- At present, routinely updated sources of Europe-wide data on the prevalence of Parkinson's disease are very scarce.
- The Eurostat morbidity statistics pilot has collected data on the prevalence of Parkinson's disease, but Eurostat will not publish the data as comparable statistics. Data on the prevalence of Parkinson's disease are available from epidemiological studies, but their comparability is limited due to methodological differences and difference in age distribution.
- The aim of the Eurostat morbidity statistics activities is to set up a regular data collection on morbidity within the European Statistical System. This will significantly improve the availability of data on Parkinson's Disease prevalence and provide possibilities to monitor trends.

Indicator development

The prevalence of Parkinson's disease is not included in the ECHI shortlist.

Data situation and main gaps

Table 8 gives an overview of available data sources on Parkinson's disease. The overview shows that at present, there is no routinely updated source of Europe-wide data on the prevalence of Parkinson's disease.

Databases

The Eurostat morbidity statistics pilot has collected data on the prevalence of Parkinson's disease. Eurostat will not publish the morbidity pilot data because they were collected to assess the feasibility of the proposed method. Countries may decide themselves whether they want to publish the data.

Parkinson's disease is also included in the questionnaire from the SHARE study, in which respondents are asked whether they have a specific chronic disease as listed on a show card (21).

One of the aims of the EuroPa (the European Cooperative Network for Research, Diagnosis and Therapy of Parkinson's Disease) project (2001-2004) was to establish a European registry of clinically well-defined Parkinson's disease patients (www.europarkinson.net). EuroPa brings together clinical centres from 10 EU countries and Israel. EuroPa intends to become an independent, non-profit organisation including additional members from various European countries.

Reports and articles

In a worldwide review Muangpaisan et al. (2011) concluded that comparing the incidence and prevalence of Parkinson's disease is difficult. The variation in prevalence between countries may partly be due to differences in case ascertainment, diagnostic criteria, actual data collection, and most importantly to different population age structures (112). Furthermore, studies concerning neurological disorders largely refer to clinical and treatment samples and provide no comparable 12-month estimates (93). Studies that rely on existing medical records exclude from the prevalence estimate those patients who failed to seek medical attention for their symptoms and those who were incorrectly diagnosed (113).

An estimation of the total number of people with Parkinson's disease in each of the EU27 countries, Iceland, Norway and Switzerland has been given by Gustavsson (2011). The study was based on a review of published articles and was commissioned by the European Brain Council (EBC). For countries for which data was either not available or for which the data did not provide sufficient detail, the available evidence for countries *with* data was extrapolated to countries *without* adequate data (107).

The EUGLOREH report presents data on the prevalence of Parkinson's disease that were derived from a systematic literature review including ten European countries (114). The review identified data on Parkinson's disease prevalence for eight of the ten countries included in the review. The authors conclude that the observed variations in prevalence and incidence of Parkinson's disease may result from environmental or genetic factors, but might also be a consequence of differences in methodologies for case ascertainment, diagnostic criteria, or age distributions of the study populations. The comparability of existing studies is limited (114).

Earlier, in the EUROPARKINSON study (European Community Concerted Action on the Epidemiology of Parkinson's disease) the authors concluded that the prevalence of Parkinson's disease is rather similar across European countries (113). EUROPARKINSON was a collaborative effort to study the prevalence, incidence, and determinants of Parkinson's disease in Europe. It comprised of five studies, one each from France, Italy and the Netherlands, and two from Spain. All five studies are community surveys of both independently living and institutionalised elderly subjects 55 years of age or older which were screened in person for parkinsonism. To allow comparisons across countries, an effort was made to increase the homogeneity of case finding strategies and diagnostic criteria in the five European surveys.

Current initiatives to improve the data situation

Currently register-based data collected in the Eurostat morbidity statistics pilot are not available yet. However, the final aim of the Eurostat morbidity statistics activities is to set up a regular data collection on morbidity within the European Statistical System. This will significantly improve the data availability for Parkinson's Disease prevalence and provide possibilities to monitor trends.

Table 8: Overview of available data on the prevalence of Parkinson's disease.

	Source				References	
name	type of data collection (interview, examination, register)	source type (database, report, article)	countries	by sex and age groups	year of data collection and periodicity	
Database (see annex	4 for indicator definitions)				
Eurostat diagnosis- specific morbidity data activities	administrative sources (clinical records, insurance data), disease registers, etc.	database (data not available yet)	16 countries carried out the pilot (CZ, CY, EE, HU, LT, LV, MT, SI, SK, AT, DE, BE, DE, FI, NL, PL and RO)	by sex and by 18 age groups (0-4, 5-9,etc., 85+)	pilot study in 2007- 2009	see info on Circa ²³
SHARE	interview	database	17 EU countries: 2004 (AT, BE, CH, DE, DK, ES, EL, FR, IT, NL and SE), 2006/7 (plus CZ and PL), 2008/9, 2010 (plus EE, HU, PT, SI, data for 2010 not released yet).	by sex, people aged 50 and over	4 waves: 2004, 2006/7, 2008/9, 2010 (data for 2010 not released yet)	(21, 25, 33)
Reports and articles						
Von Campenhausen et al., 2005	most studies combined questionnaires or patient/prescription records with neurological examinations	literature review	AT, CZ, DE, ES, IT, FR, NL, PT, SE and UK. No publications could be identified for AT or CZ	most studies included age-specific prevalences, different age groups depending on study	studies published between 1966 and 2004	(114)
EUROPARKINSON study	questionnaire and physical examination	research article	five studies, one each from FR, IT, and NL, and two from ES	by sex and by the following age groups 65-69, 70-74, 75-79, 80-84, 85-89, 90-94 and 95-99	surveys performed between 1988 and 1991	(113)

http://circa.europa.eu/Public/irc/dsis/health/library?l=/methodologiessandsdatasc/diagnosis-specific&vm=detailed&sb=Title

Source				References		
name	type of data collection (interview, examination, register)	source type (database, report, article)	countries	by sex and age groups	year of data collection and periodicity	
Muangpaisan et al., 2011	case-finding varied from door-to-door surveys to hospital records and self- report	literature review	ES, IT, NL, UK (+ Scotland) and EUROPARKINSON	different age groups depending on study	studies published between 1965 and January 2010	(112)
Wirdefeldt et al., 2011	door-to-door surveys and clinical examination	literature review	ES, FR, IT, NL, SE	different age groups depending on study	studies published between 1992 and 2008	(115)

4.7.3 Multiple sclerosis

Key messages:

- The prevalence of multiple sclerosis is not an ECHI shortlist indicator.
- At present, there is no routinely updated source of Europe-wide data on the prevalence of multiple sclerosis.
- The Eurostat morbidity statistics pilot has collected data on the prevalence of multiple sclerosis, but Eurostat will not publish the data as comparable statistics.
- Data on the prevalence of multiple sclerosis are available from epidemiological studies, but their comparability is limited due to methodological differences and difference in age-distribution.
- The aim of the Eurostat morbidity statistics activities is to set up a regular data collection on morbidity within the European Statistical System. This will significantly improve the availability of data on multiple sclerosis prevalence and provide possibilities to monitor trends. Also the EUReMS project will improve the data situation by creating a European multiple sclerosis register.

Indicator development

The prevalence of multiple sclerosis is not included in the ECHI shortlist.

Data situation and main gaps

Table 9 gives an overview of available data sources on multiple sclerosis (MS). It shows that at present, there is no routinely updated source of Europe-wide data on the prevalence of multiple sclerosis.

Databases

The Eurostat morbidity statistics pilot has collected data on the prevalence of multiple sclerosis (MS). Eurostat will not publish the morbidity pilot data because they were collected to assess the feasibility of the proposed method. Countries may decide themselves whether they want to publish the data.

Reports and articles

Both the EUGLOREH report and the Major and Chronic Diseases (MCD) report present data from a review of studies that were published between 1970 and 2001 by Pugliatti et al. (2006) (7, 46). Recently, Koutsouraki et al. (2010) published a review of newer studies, i.e. published between 2000 and 2001 (116). Also recently, two meta-analysis investigated the association between MS prevalence and latitude (117, 118).

In the MCD report it was concluded that despite the wealth of data from systematic epidemiological studies on MS, reliable information on age-specific prevalence rates is lacking for nearly two thirds of all European countries (7). Koutsouraki et al. also highlight

the need for age- and sex-adjusted prevalence rates for reliable comparisons between countries (116).

International comparisons are also difficult because of the following arguments (7):

- 1. the variability of the surveyed populations with respect to size, age structure, ethnic origin;
- 2. differences in the capability to detect benign and/or early cases;
- 3. the different degree of case ascertainment coverage;
- 4. differences in diagnostic criteria used.

To address these problems a collaborative multicentric European project for the assessment of the current burden of MS in Europe is needed (119).

Gustavsson et al. (2011) gives an estimation of the total number of people with multiple sclerosis in each of the EU27 countries, as well as Iceland, Norway and Switzerland. The study was based on a review of published articles and was commissioned by the European Brain Council (EBC). For countries for which data was either not available or for which the data did not provide sufficient detail, the available evidence for countries *with* data was extrapolated to countries *without* adequate data (107).

Current initiatives to improve the data situation

Currently register-based data collected in the Eurostat morbidity statistics pilot are not available yet. However, the final aim of the Eurostat morbidity statistics activities is to set up a regular data collection on morbidity within the European Statistical System. This will significantly improve the data availability for multiple sclerosis prevalence and provide possibilities to monitor trends.

One of the objectives of the EU funded project called Multiple Sclerosis - the Information Dividend (MS-ID) (2007-2009) was the use of high quality comparable data at EU and transnational levels to positively impact on EU and national policy and programmes towards MS (120). The MS-ID project has demonstrated the feasibility of a European Register for Multiple Sclerosis for trans-national data analysis and comparison. Such a registry should be based on the identification and evaluation of existing data collection methodologies, MS databases and MS registries across Europe, and results of a literature search. The project is continued in the EUReMS project (European Register for Multiple Sclerosis) which has started in 2011 (121). The European Multiple Sclerosis Platform coordinates both projects.

Table 9: Overview of available data on the prevalence of multiple sclerosis.

Source			Availability			References		
name	type of data collection (interview, examination, register)	source type (database, report, article)	countries	by sex and age groups	year of data collection and periodicity			
Database (see annex 4 for indicator definitions)								
Eurostat diagnosis-specific morbidity data activities	administrative sources (clinical records, insurance data), disease registers, etc.	database (data not available yet)	16 countries carried out the pilot (CZ, CY, EE, HU, LT, LV, MT, SI, SK, AT, DE, BE, DE, FI, NL, PL and RO)	by sex and by 18 age groups (0-4, 5-9,etc., 85+)	pilot study in 2007- 2009	see info on Circa ²⁴		
Reports and artic	les							
Koutsouraki et al., 2010	population-based studies	literature review	BA, EL, DE, EL, ES, FI, FR, HU, IT, MT, NO, RS, SE and UK	by sex	studies published between 2000 and 2009	(116)		
Pugliatti et al., 2006	population-based studies (registry-based and nation- wide surveys were preferably considered)	literature review	EU countries (except LT, SK and LU, EFTA (except Liechtenstein), AL, HR, RS and MK	by sex and by age groups (<17, 18–34, 35–49, 50–64, 65–74, 75>) but depending on study	studies between the 1980s and 2001	(119)		

http://circa.europa.eu/Public/irc/dsis/health/library?l=/methodologiessandsdatasc/diagnosis-specific&vm=detailed&sb=Title

5 Conclusions and recommendations

Availability of timely and comparable chronic disease prevalence data is far from ideal in Europe

Based on the overviews in chapter 4 we conclude that the availability of timely and comparable chronic disease prevalence data is far from ideal in the European Union. The paucity of the data for these chronic diseases contrasts with their large burden of disease. The availability of timely data is especially problematic for cardiovascular diseases, whereas data on cancer is much more widely available than for other chronic diseases. For some diseases (e.g. multiple sclerosis, Parkinson's disease, diabetes) a wealth of data exists but because these data are originating from a great variety of national studies, they are still far from comparable. Furthermore, the available information on the prevalence of chronic diseases is scattered among several reports, (project) websites, research articles and international databases, with generally only the latter being a source with some form of sustainability. Availability of the data is also not equally distributed among countries and this leads to large 'health information inequalities' within the EU27. Data availability is generally better in the 'old' EU15 countries and worse in the countries that became EU member in 2004 or later. Furthermore, trend data are not always available and several studies/projects highlight the need for more age and sex-specific data collection to be able to age- and sex-standardise which is needed to allow for international comparisons. In conclusion, a balanced, timely and adequate picture of chronic disease prevalence is lacking. This impedes health policy development and evaluation throughout Europe.

Health interview surveys, registries and population-based studies are important data sources

The most important sources of data on the prevalence of chronic disease in terms of coverage and timely availability are:

- 1. general health interview surveys (EHIS and national HIS);
- 2. registries (e.g. hospital discharge registers, GP registers, disease registers; data collected by the Eurostat morbidity statistics pilot);
- 3. epidemiological (population-based) studies using (diagnostic) interviews, physical exams or both (including HES).

In addition, health examination surveys (HES) provide information on the determinants of major chronic diseases (e.g. blood pressure, BMI, and cholesterol) and undiagnosed diabetes.

Despite recommendations by indicator projects, use of different methods still hampers comparability

The data quality and comparability of these sources mainly depends on the methods used in each specific survey or register. Due to a lack of consensus, these methods often differ. Many EU funded projects on health indicators, such as EUROCISS, EUDIP/EUCID, IMCA, MINDFUL, EuroCoDe, MS-ID have been working, often on a limited time base, on indicator development and incidental data collections for specific chronic disease groups. Various EU funded indicator projects have also made recommendations on the best possible or available methods for data collection and harmonisation, but full implementation thereof throughout the EU is lacking because of discontinuities in project funding or national impediments to investing in larger studies.

Together HIS, HES and registries form a good basis for national and international health monitoring systems

Because both (E)HIS and registry-based data have advantages as well as disadvantages the Joint Action for ECHIM has proposed both approaches to collect data for several of their proposed set of health indicators. Population-based studies that include some form of screening or physical examination and general health examination surveys (HES) are complementary to HIS and medical registers because they can provide information on undiagnosed cases, which is not available from other data sources. Together HIS, HES and registries form a good basis for national and international health monitoring systems.

EU-wide data collections important to boost the data situation

From the overviews in chapter 4 it is clear that EU-wide data collections such as EHIS and the Eurostat morbidity statistics activities are important future or potential sources of data on the prevalence of chronic diseases in the EU27. For this reason and because they are complementary to each other, these pilot initiatives together with EHES-related initiatives may boost the data situation in the future and therefore need to be sufficiently supported. The full implementation of EHIS will provide important comparable data on chronic diseases and their risk factors in the European Union. Implementation of a harmonised European Health Examination Survey (EHES) in all EU Member States would provide a major source of comparable data on chronic diseases and their determinants (including the biological risk factors). The implementation of an EHES could build on preliminary work that has already been done in previous EU-projects like the EHES pilot project and the Feasibility of a European Health Examination Survey (FEHES). Although determinant data are not falling within the scope of this report, data on determinants are also very important for monitoring of chronic diseases, for example for modelling and projecting future disease trends.

Sustainable investments needed for monitoring disease trends

European-wide data collection activities, such as EHIS, EHES and the Eurostat morbidity data activities are important sources for several ECHI indicators on the prevalence of chronic diseases. In addition to benchmarking and supporting health policies, the purpose of ECHI indicators is to monitor trends. Monitoring trends within countries is also possible when data are not completely harmonised between countries, however. In order for EHIS, EHES and the Eurostat morbidity statistics activities to fully reach their potential for health monitoring, sustainable investments are necessary to make sure that the current pilots become a sustainable data source and provide possibilities to monitor trends. Furthermore, these studies can be the basis of relevant disease mechanistic and epidemiological research including underlying genetics. Therefore, when these pilots are finished it is essential that the EU and its Member States keep investing in improving data availability, comparability and quality in a coordinated fashion and according to a clearly defined health information strategy.

Stimulate the use of existing routinely collected data

Because disease registers, HIS and HES activities are expensive, it is worthwhile to further stimulate the use of existing routinely collected data as done by the Eurostat morbidity pilot and develop protocols to arrive at optimal comparability for such data sets. Part of this process of improving data is creating more possibilities for record linkage among the different sources of information. This is especially useful for data on the attack rate of AMI and stroke. Due to data protection legislation, this linkage is not possible in several countries. Another aspect of data processing, which is influenced by data protection legislation, is secondary use of (health) data that have been collected for another purpose, e.g. administrative reasons. The EU legislative data protection framework is currently being revised. It is important that under the revised legislation it will be possible to make optimal use of health data for public health purposes in ways that provide adequate safeguards for the data subject (122).

Regularly updating multicenter studies also important for monitoring disease trends

For international comparisons multicenter research or health examination studies using the same methodology in different countries (such as ECRHS, ISAAC, MONICA) are probably the most reliable sources. However, they are often carried out on an ad hoc basis, because they are expensive. Therefore, they are most often not a sustainable source of information for analysing disease trends. Strong time trends in disease incidence and prevalence for certain chronic diseases (e.g. diabetes and COPD) point at the importance to regularly repeat such studies, but on a longer time base.

Stimulate joint data collection between Eurostat, the OECD, the WHO and EU Member States

EU funded projects and work by organisation such as Eurostat, the OECD, the WHO and EU Member States have resulted in considerable progress in improving data availability, comparability and quality. DG SANCO should stimulate joint data collection between these organisations by bringing them together on morbidity data and other health information topics as part of a common health information strategy. The organisations should join forces and use each others' expertise and networks to improve the availability, quality and comparability of health data in general and for chronic diseases in particular. For Member States this would be attractive as it would result in a lower burden of data deliveries. An example is the EU funded EU-WMH project that contributes to the WHO World Mental Health Surveys Initiative. These efforts ideally should not be limited to data collection for chronic disease prevalence, however, but also to data on their risk factors (lifestyle factors and biological risk factors) as well as for the assessment of quality of healthcare and prevention.

A web-based chronic disease monitoring system to increase visibility of available information

A way to improve the scattered data situation could be envisaged by integrating available information on a web-based chronic diseases monitoring system, or a broader public health monitoring system, for example the HEIDI-Wiki and the pilot system which was developed in the EUPHIX project (123). Such a web-based system may improve data access and visibility and its usability for public health professionals and policy makers and could thereby also provide an opportunity to increase Member States' commitment.

Need for central coordination and Member State commitment

Sustainable investments in improving data availability, comparability and quality cannot be achieved without the commitment of the Member States and some central form of coordination and should be part of a common European health information strategy. Eurostat is already the coordination point responsible for EU data collection, but other organisations (e.g. OECD, WHO) collect data as well. However, these organisations do not have a common plan on health data collection and harmonisation. The scattered data situation in Europe therefore, shows a strong need for central coordination, priority setting and support. Still, a solid form of sustainable general coordination and harmonisation that could lead to a better balanced, more timely and adequate picture of chronic disease prevalence is lacking. In the past decade the ECHI projects and the JA for ECHIM have fulfilled an important part of this coordinating and harmonisation function. Now that the JA for ECHIM will end by July 2012 this role has to be taken up by another body or organisation. Such a body should stimulate ongoing and future developments towards better availability and comparability of health data, such as the Eurostat morbidity statistics pilot and the ECHIM data collection pilot. For chronic disease policy development in Europe, we will also need more data, however, than prevalence data alone. In addition to data on mortality, which are generally available for most disease groups, we also need adequate data for risk factors for chronic diseases, for the economic costs of these illnesses as well as data on the use, costs and quality of healthcare and prevention that need to combat these diseases.

In summary, to improve the rather weak health data situation in the European Union we need a central coordinating effort which will implement a common health information strategy not just for information on chronic disease prevalence, but for the full area of public health and healthcare. Such as strategy can build upon the experience gained in numerous previous EU sponsored projects on chronic diseases, most of which have contributed to this review of prevalence data availability for chronic diseases. Sustainable support for that type of work is needed to make sure that the current pilots become a sustainable data source and provide possibilities to monitor trends and to ascertain that previously build up know-how, experience and networks will not be lost.

6 References

- 1. Council of the European Union. Council conclusions 'Innovative approaches for chronic diseases in public health and healthcare systems' (2011/C 74/03). Official Journal of the European Union 832011. 2011.
- 2. UN General Assembly. Resolution adopted by the General Assembly. Political Declaration of the High-level Meeting of the General Assembly on the Prevention and Control of Non-communicable Diseases. A/RES/66/22011.
- 3. Kramers PGN. Public Health Indicators for Europe: Context, Selection, Definition. Final report by the ECHI project phase II. Bilthoven: RIVM2005.
- 4. EC. Commission of the European Communities. White Paper 'Together for Health A Strategic Approach for the EU, 2008-2013'. COM(2007) 630 final. Brussels: Commission of the European Communities 2007.
- 5. EC. Regulation (EC) 1338/2008 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 16 December 2008 on Community statistics on public health and health and safety at work. 2008.
- 6. OECD. Health at a Glance: Europe 2010. http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/health_glance-2010-en2010.
- 7. TFMCD. (Task Force on Major and Chronic Diseases) Major and Chronic Diseases Report 2007. Luxembourg: European Communities 2008.
- 8. Allender S, Scarborough P, Peto V, Rayner M, Leal J, Luengo-Fernandez R, et al. European cardiovascular disease statistics 2008: European Heart Network2008.
- 9. EC. European Commission. The State of Mental Health in the European Union: European Commission; 2004.
- 10. Busse R, Blümel M, Scheller-Kreinsen D, Zentner A. Tackling Chronic Disease In Europe Strategies, interventions and challenges. Copenhagen: European observatory on Health Systems and Policies 2010.
- 11. Nolte E, Mckee M. Caring for people with chronic diseases. A health system perspective. European observatory on Health Systems and Policies; 2008; Available from: http://www.euro.who.int/ data/assets/pdf file/0006/96468/E91878.pdf.
- 12. Sassi F, Hurst J. The Prevention of Lifestyle-Related Chronic Diseases: an Economic Framework. OECD health working paper no. 32 Paris: OECD2008.
- 13. Suhrcke M, Nugent RA, Stuckler D, Rocco L. Chronic Disease: An Economic Perspective, Confronting the epidemic of chronic diseases, London: Oxford Health Alliance, 2006. London: Oxford Health Alliance2006.
- 14. WHO. A strategy to prevent chronic disease in Europe. A focus on public health action. The CINDI vision: WHO2004
- 15. Eurostat Statistics Database http://epp.eurostat.ec.europa.eu/portal/page/portal/statistics/search_database [database on the Internet]2012. Available from: http://epp.eurostat.ec.europa.eu/portal/page/portal/statistics/search_database.
- 16. Thelen J, Kirsch NH, Finger J. Joint Action for ECHIM Final Report Part III "ECHIM Pilot Data Collection, Analyses and Dissemination" (in press)2012.
- 17. De Bruin A, Voorrips L, Ploemacher J, Van Gool C, Poos R, Gommer M. Netherlands Pilot Project on Morbidity Statistics The Hague/Bilthoven: CBS/RIVM 2011.
- 18. Verschuuren M, Achterberg PW, Gijsen R, Harbers MM, Vijge E, Van der Wilk EA, et al. Joint Action for ECHIM Final Report Part II. "ECHI indicator development and documentation" (in press). 2012.
- 19. Eurostat. Health status: indicators from the SILC survey (from 2004 onwards). Reference Metadata in Euro SDMX Metadata Structure (ESMS). 2012 [updated 10 February 2012; cited 2012 24 July]; Available from: http://epp.eurostat.ec.europa.eu/cache/ITY SDDS/en/hlth status silc esms.htm.

- 20. Eurostat. European Health Interview Survey (EHIS) questionnaire English Version. Eurostat; 2006.
- 21. SHARE. SHARE. PH Physical Health. List of questions. Codebook Release 2.5.0 2012 [updated 18 November 2011; cited 2012 24 July]; Available from: http://www.irdes.fr/EspaceAnglais/International/SHARE/Dico_EN/ph/ph-Physical_Health.html.
- 22. WHO. WHO Global burden of disease. Regional burden of disease estimates for 2004. 2008 [cited 2012 16 April]; Available from:

 http://www.who.int/healthinfo/global_burden_disease/estimates_regional/en/index.ht
 ml.
- 23. EUROCISS. EUROCISS final report 20032003a.
- 24. Giampaoli S, Palmieri L, Ciccarelli P, Donfrancesco C. (EUROCISS working group). Final report. 14 February 2008. Rome, Italy: Centre for Epidemiology, Surveillance and Health Promotion. National Institute of Health2008.
- 25. Börsch-Supan A, Brugiavini A, Jürges H, Mackenbach J, Siegrist J, Weber G. Health, Ageing and Retirement in Europe. First Results from the Survey of Health, Ageing and Retirement in Europe. Mannheim: Mannheim Research Institute for the Economics of Aging (MEA); 2005.
- 26. Bennett K. DYNAMO-HIA WP9: Cardiovascular disease and diabetes. Report on data collection for cardiovascular disease and diabetes and related relative risks. Dublin, Ireland: Haughton Institute2010.
- Truelsen T, Piechowski-Jozwiak B, Bonita R, Mathers C, Bogousslavsky J, Boysen G. Stroke incidence and prevalence in Europe: a review of available data. Eur J Neurol. 2006 Jun;13(6):581-98.
- 28. WHO. DisMod II. Version 1.01. Available for downloading at URL: http://www.who.int/evidence/dismod. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2001.
- 29. Tunstall-Pedoe H, Kuulasmaa K, Amouyel P, Arveiler D, Rajakangas AM, Pajak A. Myocardial infarction and coronary deaths in the World Health Organization MONICA Project. Registration procedures, event rates, and case-fatality rates in 38 populations from 21 countries in four continents. Circulation. 1994 Jul;90(1):583-612.
- 30. Thorvaldsen P, Asplund K, Kuulasmaa K, Rajakangas AM, Schroll M. Stroke incidence, case fatality, and mortality in the WHO MONICA project. World Health Organization Monitoring Trends and Determinants in Cardiovascular Disease. Stroke. 1995 Mar;26(3):361-7.
- 31. EUROCISS. EUROpean Cardiovascular Indicators Surveillance Set. Coronary and cerebrovascular population-based registers in Europe: are morbidity indicators comparable? Results from the EUROCISS Project. Eur J Public Health. 2003b Sep;13(3 Suppl):55-60.
- 32. EHN. Description of the EuroHeart II project (March 23rd 2011). European Heart Network; 2012 [cited 2012 29 March]; Available from:

 http://www.ehnheart.org/euroheart-ii/publication/448-description-of-the-euroheart-ii-project.html.
- 33. SHARE database www.share-project.org [database on the Internet]2012. Available from: www.share-project.org.
- 34. EUROCHIP. EUROCHIP. European Cancer Health Indicator Project. Final Report. 15/07/2003. Milan: Istituto Nazionale per lo Studio e la Cura e dei Tumori2003.
- 35. EUROCHIP-II. EUROCHIP-II. Final scientific report. Annex 02. Request for contributing to update of ECHI shortlist. Suggestions coming from EUROCHIP-2 for cancer indicators. . 2006.
- 36. Coleman MP, Alexe D-M, Albreht T, McKee M. Responding to the challenge of cancer in Europe (final report of the Fighting against cancer today (FACT) project). Ljubljana: Institute of Public Health of the Republic of Slovenia2008.
- 37. GLOBOCAN 2008 v1.2, Cancer Incidence and Mortality Worldwide: IARC CancerBase No. 10 [Internet]. [database on the Internet]. Lyon, France: International

- Agency for Research on Cancer. 2010 [cited 2012 17 July]. Available from: http://globocan.iarc.fr.
- 38. Bray F, Ren JS, Masuyer E, Ferlay J. Global estimates of cancer prevalence for 27 sites in the adult population in 2008. Int J Cancer. 2012 Jul 3.
- 39. WHO-HfA database http://data.euro.who.int/hfadb/ [database on the Internet]. WHO. 2012. Available from: http://data.euro.who.int/hfadb/.
- 40. Micheli A, Mugno E, Krogh V, Quinn MJ, Coleman M, Hakulinen T, et al. Cancer prevalence in European registry areas. Ann Oncol. 2002 Jun;13(6):840-65.
- 41. Capocaccia R, Colonna M, Corazziari I, De Angelis R, Francisci S, Micheli A, et al. Measuring cancer prevalence in Europe: the EUROPREVAL project. Ann Oncol. 2002 Jun;13(6):831-9.
- 42. Baili P, Casella I. DYNAMO-HIA WP-10 on Cancer Report on data collection. Milan: Istituto Nazionale dei Tumori (INT)2010.
- 43. Curado MP, Edwards B, Shin HR, Storm H, Ferlay J, Heanue M, et al. Cancer Incidence in Five Continents, Vol. IX. IARC Scientific Publications No. 160. Lyon: IARC2007.
- 44. Gatta G, Capocaccia R, Trama A, Martínez-García C, RARECARE Working Group. The burden of rare cancers in Europe. Adv Exp Med Biol. 2010;686:285-303.
- 45. EUCID. European Core Indicators in Diabetes. Final report European Core Indicators in Diabetes project. Utrecht: Dutch Institute for Healthcare Improvement CBO2008.
- 46. EUGLOREH. The status of health in the European Union: Towards a healthier Europe2008.
- 47. IDF. IDF Diabetes Atlas, 5th edn. http://www.idf.org/diabetesatlas. Brussels, Belgium: International Diabetes Federation2011.
- 48. IDF. Generating the numbers. 2012b [cited 2012 29 March]; Available from: http://www.idf.org/diabetesatlas/5e/generating-the-numbers.
- 49. Fleming DM, Schellevis FG, Van Casteren V. The prevalence of known diabetes in eight European countries. Eur J Public Health. 2004 Mar;14(1):10-4.
- 50. Kanavos P, Van den Aardweg S, Schurer W. Diabetes expenditure, burden of disease and management in 5 EU countries LSE Health, London School of Economics. 2012.
- 51. DECODE. Age- and sex-specific prevalences of diabetes and impaired glucose regulation in 13 European cohorts. Diabetes Care. 2003 Jan;26(1):61-9.
- 52. EUBIROD Objectives. 2012 [cited 2012 29 March]; Available from: http://www.eubirod.eu/objectives.htm.
- 53. IDF. Europe (EUR). 2012a [cited 2012 29 March]; Available from: http://www.idf.org/diabetesatlas/5e/europe.
- 54. Danaei G, Finucane MM, Lu Y, Singh GM, Cowan MJ, Paciorek CJ, et al. National, regional, and global trends in fasting plasma glucose and diabetes prevalence since 1980: systematic analysis of health examination surveys and epidemiological studies with 370 country-years and 2.7 million participants. Lancet. [Multicenter Study Research Support, Non-U.S. Gov't Review]. 2011 Jul 2;378(9785):31-40.
- 55. IMCA. Indicators for Monitoring COPD and Asthma in the EU. IMCA Final report. Barcelona2005.
- 56. IMCA. (Indicators for Monitoring COPD and asthma in the EU) IMCA Aims. 2012 [cited 2012 16 April]; Available from: http://www.imca.cat/imcaii/aims.html.
- 57. Atsou K, Chouaid C, Hejblum G. Variability of the chronic obstructive pulmonary disease key epidemiological data in Europe: systematic review. BMC Med. 2011;9:7.
- 58. Halbert RJ, Isonaka S, George D, Iqbal A. Interpreting COPD prevalence estimates: what is the true burden of disease? Chest. 2003 May;123(5):1684-92.
- 59. Halbert RJ, Natoli JL, Gano A, Badamgarav E, Buist AS, Mannino DM. Global burden of COPD: systematic review and meta-analysis. Eur Respir J. 2006 Sep;28(3):523-32.
- 60. Kulik MC. DYNAMO-HIA Work Package 11: COPD Activities Report. Rotterdam, The Netherlands: Erasmus MC University Medical Center Rotterdam2010.

- 61. Buist AS, McBurnie MA, Vollmer WM, Gillespie S, Burney P, Mannino DM, et al. International variation in the prevalence of COPD (the BOLD Study): a population-based prevalence study. Lancet. 2007 Sep 1;370(9589):741-50.
- 62. Buist AS, Vollmer WM, McBurnie MA. Worldwide burden of COPD in high- and low-income countries. Part I. The burden of obstructive lung disease (BOLD) initiative. Int J Tuberc Lung Dis. 2008 Jul;12(7):703-8.
- 63. Piperno D, Huchon G, Pribil C, Boucot I, Similowski T. The burden of COPD in France: results from the Confronting COPD survey. Respir Med. 2003 Mar;97 Suppl C:S33-42.
- 64. Dal Negro R, Rossi A, Cerveri I. The burden of COPD in Italy: results from the Confronting COPD survey. Respir Med. 2003 Mar;97 Suppl C:S43-50.
- 65. Wouters EF. The burden of COPD in The Netherlands: results from the Confronting COPD survey. Respir Med. 2003 Mar;97 Suppl C:S51-9.
- 66. Izquierdo JL. The burden of COPD in Spain: results from the Confronting COPD survey. Respir Med. 2003 Mar;97 Suppl C:S61-9.
- 67. Britton M. The burden of COPD in the U.K.: results from the Confronting COPD survey. Respir Med. 2003 Mar;97 Suppl C:S71-9.
- 68. Ozdoganoglu T, Songu M. The burden of allergic rhinitis and asthma. Ther Adv Respir Dis. 2012;6(1):11-23.
- 69. Asher MI, Weiland SK. The International Study of Asthma and Allergies in Childhood (ISAAC). ISAAC Steering Committee. Clin Exp Allergy. 1998 Nov;28 Suppl 5:52-66; discussion 90-1.
- 70. Asher MI, Montefort S, Bjorksten B, Lai CK, Strachan DP, Weiland SK, et al. Worldwide time trends in the prevalence of symptoms of asthma, allergic rhinoconjunctivitis, and eczema in childhood: ISAAC Phases One and Three repeat multicountry cross-sectional surveys. Lancet. 2006 Aug 26;368(9537):733-43.
- 71. Burney PG, Luczynska C, Chinn S, Jarvis D. The European Community Respiratory Health Survey. Eur Respir J. 1994 May;7(5):954-60.
- 72. Blanc FX, Postel-Vinay N, Boucot I, De Blic J, Scheinmann P. [The AIRE Study: data analysis of 753 European children with asthma]. Rev Mal Respir. 2002 Oct;19(5 Pt 1):585-92.
- 73. von Hertzen L, Haahtela T. Signs of reversing trends in prevalence of asthma. Allergy. 2005 Mar;60(3):283-92.
- 74. Anandan C, Nurmatov U, van Schayck OC, Sheikh A. Is the prevalence of asthma declining? Systematic review of epidemiological studies. Allergy. 2010 Feb;65(2):152-67.
- 75. ECRHS. What is ECRHS III? . 2012 [cited 2012 16 April 2012]; Available from: http://www.ecrhs.org/.
- 76. Bousquet J, Burney PG, Zuberbier T, Cauwenberge PV, Akdis CA, Bindslev-Jensen C, et al. GA2LEN (Global Allergy and Asthma European Network) addresses the allergy and asthma 'epidemic'. Allergy. 2009 Jul;64(7):969-77.
- 77. Cerveri I, Accordini S, Verlato G, Corsico A, Zoia MC, Casali L, et al. Variations in the prevalence across countries of chronic bronchitis and smoking habits in young adults. Eur Respir J. 2001 Jul;18(1):85-92.
- 78. ECRHS. Variations in the prevalence of respiratory symptoms, self-reported asthma attacks, and use of asthma medication in the European Community Respiratory Health Survey (ECRHS). Eur Respir J. 1996;9(4):687-95.
- 79. Janson C, Anto J, Burney P, Chinn S, de Marco R, Heinrich J, et al. The European Community Respiratory Health Survey: what are the main results so far? European Community Respiratory Health Survey II. Eur Respir J. 2001 Sep;18(3):598-611.
- 80. Bousquet PJ, Leynaert B, Neukirch F, Sunyer J, Janson CM, Anto J, et al. Geographical distribution of atopic rhinitis in the European Community Respiratory Health Survey I. Allergy. 2008 Oct;63(10):1301-9.

- 81. Worldwide variations in the prevalence of asthma symptoms: the International Study of Asthma and Allergies in Childhood (ISAAC). Eur Respir J. 1998 Aug;12(2):315-35.
- 82. STAKES. (National Research and Development Centre for Welfare and Health) Establishment of a set of mental health indicators for European Union. Final Report. Helsinki: STAKES2002.
- 83. MINDFUL. Final technical implementation report. September 14, 2006. Helsinki, Finland: STAKES2006.
- 84. Prince MJ, Reischies F, Beekman AT, Fuhrer R, Jonker C, Kivela SL, et al. Development of the EURO-D scale--a European, Union initiative to compare symptoms of depression in 14 European centres. Br J Psychiatry. 1999a Apr;174:330-8.
- 85. Prince MJ, Beekman AT, Deeg DJ, Fuhrer R, Kivela SL, Lawlor BA, et al. Depression symptoms in late life assessed using the EURO-D scale. Effect of age, gender and marital status in 14 European centres. Br J Psychiatry. 1999b Apr;174:339-45.
- 86. MINDFUL MINDFUL Database. 2008; Available from: http://info.stakes.fi/mindful/EN/database/overview.htm.
- 87. Bromet E, Andrade LH, Hwang I, Sampson NA, Alonso J, de Girolamo G, et al. Cross-national epidemiology of DSM-IV major depressive episode. BMC Med. 2011;9:90.
- 88. Demyttenaere K, Bruffaerts R, Posada-Villa J, Gasquet I, Kovess V, Lepine JP, et al. Prevalence, severity, and unmet need for treatment of mental disorders in the World Health Organization World Mental Health Surveys. Jama. 2004 Jun 2;291(21):2581-90
- 89. EU-WMH. European Contribution to the WMH Surveys Initiative 2012 [cited 2012 16 April]; Available from: http://www.eu-wmh.org/.
- 90. Alonso J, Angermeyer MC, Bernert S, Bruffaerts R, Brugha TS, Bryson H, et al. Prevalence of mental disorders in Europe: results from the European Study of the Epidemiology of Mental Disorders (ESEMeD) project. Acta Psychiatr Scand Suppl. 2004(420):21-7.
- 91. King M, Nazareth I, Levy G, Walker C, Morris R, Weich S, et al. Prevalence of common mental disorders in general practice attendees across Europe. Br J Psychiatry. 2008 May;192(5):362-7.
- 92. Wittchen HU, Jacobi F. Size and burden of mental disorders in Europe--a critical review and appraisal of 27 studies. Eur Neuropsychopharmacol. 2005 Aug;15(4):357-76
- 93. Wittchen HU, Jacobi F, Rehm J, Gustavsson A, Svensson M, Jonsson B, et al. The size and burden of mental disorders and other disorders of the brain in Europe 2010. Eur Neuropsychopharmacol. 2011 Sep;21(9):655-79.
- 94. Paykel ES, Brugha T, Fryers T. Size and burden of depressive disorders in Europe. Eur Neuropsychopharmacol. 2005 Aug;15(4):411-23.
- 95. TNS Opinion & Social. Eurobarometer Mental Health. Part 1: Report Fieldwork: February March 2010. Special Eurobarometer 345 / Wave 73.2. Luxembourg: European Commission; 2010.
- 96. EORG. (The European Opinon Research Group) Eurobarometer 58.2. The mental health status of the European population 2003.
- 97. Van de Velde S, Bracke P, Levecque K. Gender differences in depression in 23 European countries. Cross-national variation in the gender gap in depression. Soc Sci Med. 2010 Jul;71(2):305-13.
- 98. Castro-Costa E, Dewey M, Stewart R, Banerjee S, Huppert F, Mendonca-Lima C, et al. Prevalence of depressive symptoms and syndromes in later life in ten European countries: the SHARE study. Br J Psychiatry. 2007 Nov;191:393-401.

- 99. Lepine JP, Gastpar M, Mendlewicz J, Tylee A. Depression in the community: the first pan-European study DEPRES (Depression Research in European Society). Int Clin Psychopharmacol. 1997 Jan;12(1):19-29.
- 100. Alonso J, Ferrer M, Romera B, Vilagut G, Angermeyer M, Bernert S, et al. The European Study of the Epidemiology of Mental Disorders (ESEMeD/MHEDEA 2000) project: rationale and methods. Int J Methods Psychiatr Res. 2002;11(2):55-67.
- 101. Copeland JR, Beekman AT, Dewey ME, Hooijer C, Jordan A, Lawlor BA, et al. Depression in Europe. Geographical distribution among older people. Br J Psychiatry. 1999 Apr;174:312-21.
- 102. Kessler RC, Aguilar-Gaxiola S, Alonso J, Chatterji S, Lee S, Ormel J, et al. The global burden of mental disorders: an update from the WHO World Mental Health (WMH) surveys. Epidemiol Psichiatr Soc. 2009 Jan-Mar;18(1):23-33.
- 103. Alzheimer Europe. Dementia in Europe Yearbook 2006. Including the Alzheimer Europe Annual Report 2005. Luxembourg: Alzheimer Europe2006.
- 104. EuroCoDe. Report of WP 7 2006. Prevalence of Dementia in Europe.2006.
- 105. Alzheimer Europe. Prevalence of dementia in Europe. 2009 [updated Thursday 08 October 2009; cited 2012 27 March 2012]; Available from: http://www.alzheimer-europe.org/EN/Research/European-Collaboration-on-Dementia/Prevalence-of-dementia-in-Europe.
- 106. Kiejna A, Frydecka D, Adamowski T, Bickel H, Reynish E, Prince M, et al. Epidemiological studies of cognitive impairment and dementia across Eastern and Middle European countries (epidemiology of dementia in Eastern and Middle European Countries). Int J Geriatr Psychiatry. 2011 Feb;26(2):111-7.
- Gustavsson A, Svensson M, Jacobi F, Allgulander C, Alonso J, Beghi E, et al. Cost of disorders of the brain in Europe 2010. Eur Neuropsychopharmacol. 2011 Oct;21(10):718-79.
- 108. ALCOVE. Work package 4 Prevalence: Cohorts, Epidemiology and Registration Network. 2012 [cited 2012 16 April]; Available from: http://www.alcove-project.eu/index.php/4-core-questions/prevalence.
- 109. EuroCoDe. Report of WP 7 2006. Prevalence of Dementia in Europe. http://ec.europa.eu/health/archive/ph_information/dissemination/diseases/docs/eurocode.pdf2006.
- 110. Hofman A, Rocca WA, Brayne C, Breteler MM, Clarke M, Cooper B, et al. The prevalence of dementia in Europe: a collaborative study of 1980-1990 findings. Eurodem Prevalence Research Group. Int J Epidemiol. 1991 Sep;20(3):736-48.
- 111. Ferri CP, Prince M, Brayne C, Brodaty H, Fratiglioni L, Ganguli M, et al. Global prevalence of dementia: a Delphi consensus study. Lancet. 2005 Dec 17;366(9503):2112-7.
- 112. Muangpaisan W, Mathews A, Hori H, Seidel D. A systematic review of the worldwide prevalence and incidence of Parkinson's disease. J Med Assoc Thai. 2011 Jun;94(6):749-55.
- de Rijk MC, Tzourio C, Breteler MM, Dartigues JF, Amaducci L, Lopez-Pousa S, et al. Prevalence of parkinsonism and Parkinson's disease in Europe: the EUROPARKINSON Collaborative Study. European Community Concerted Action on the Epidemiology of Parkinson's disease. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 1997 Jan;62(1):10-5.
- 114. von Campenhausen S, Bornschein B, Wick R, Botzel K, Sampaio C, Poewe W, et al. Prevalence and incidence of Parkinson's disease in Europe. Eur Neuropsychopharmacol. 2005 Aug;15(4):473-90.
- 115. Wirdefeldt K, Adami HO, Cole P, Trichopoulos D, Mandel J. Epidemiology and etiology of Parkinson's disease: a review of the evidence. Eur J Epidemiol. 2011 Jun;26 Suppl 1:S1-58.
- 116. Koutsouraki E, Costa V, Baloyannis S. Epidemiology of multiple sclerosis in Europe: a review. Int Rev Psychiatry. 2010;22(1):2-13.

- 117. Koch-Henriksen N, Sorensen PS. The changing demographic pattern of multiple sclerosis epidemiology. Lancet Neurol. 2010 May;9(5):520-32.
- 118. Simpson S, Jr., Blizzard L, Otahal P, Van der Mei I, Taylor B. Latitude is significantly associated with the prevalence of multiple sclerosis: a meta-analysis. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2011 Oct;82(10):1132-41.
- 119. Pugliatti M, Rosati G, Carton H, Riise T, Drulovic J, Vecsei L, et al. The epidemiology of multiple sclerosis in Europe. Eur J Neurol. 2006 Jul;13(7):700-22.
- 120. MS-ID. European MS Register. 2012 [cited 2012 6 April]; Available from: http://www.ms-id.org/european-ms-register/index.php.
- 121. EMSP. (European Multiple Sclerosis Platform). About the EUReMS project 2012; Available from:

 http://www.emsp.org/index.php?option=com_content&view=category&layout=blog&id=83&Itemid=163.
- 122. Carinci F, Di Iorio CT, Ricciardi W, Klazinga N, Verschuuren M. Revision of the European Data Protection Directive: opportunity or threat for public health monitoring? Eur J Public Health. 2011 Dec;21(6):684-5.
- 123. Achterberg PW, Kramers PG, van Oers HA. European community health monitoring: the EUPHIX-model. Scand J Public Health. 2008 Sep;36(7):676-84.

Disclaimer

This report was produced and funded under the EU Health Programme (2008-2013) in the frame of a specific contract with the Executive Agency for Health and Consumers (EAHC) acting under the mandate of the European Commission.

The content of this report represents the views of the contractor and is its sole responsibility; it can in no way be taken to reflect the views of the European Commission and/or EAHC or any other body of the European Union. The European Commission and/or EAHC do not guarantee the accuracy of the data included in this report, nor do they accept responsibility for any use made by third parties thereof.

Annex 1: List of abbreviations

ADI Alzheimer's Disease International
AIRE Asthma Insights & Reality in Europe

ALCOVE ALzheimer's COoperative Valuation in Europe

AMI acute myocardial infarction

BIRO Best Information through Regional Outcomes

BMI Body Mass Index

BOLD Burden of Obstructive Lung Disease study
CaMon project Comprehensive Cancer Monitoring in Europe

CES-D scale Center for Epidemiological Studies Depression Scale

CHD coronary heart disease

CIDI Composite International Diagnostic Interview

CIDI-SF Composite International Diagnostic Interview - Short Form

COPD Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease

CVD cardiovascular disease

DALY Disability Adjusted Life Years

DEPRES Depression Research in the European Society
DG SANCO Directorate-General Health and Consumers

DSM-III Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, 3rd

edition

DSM-IV Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, 4th

edition

DYNAMO-HIA DYNAmic MOdel for Health Impact Assesment EADC European Alzheimer's Disease Consortium

EBC European Brain Council

ECHIM European Community Health Indicators Monitoring
ECNP European College of Neuropsychopharmacology
ECRHS European Community Respiratory Health Survey

EEA European Economic Area

EFTA European Free Trade Association (EFTA) (EFTA has four

Member States: Iceland, Liechtenstein, Norway and

Switzerland)

EHIS European Health Interview Survey

EHN European Heart Network

EMSP European Multiple Sclerosis Platform ENCR European Network of Cancer Registries

ERS European Respiratory Society

ESEMeD European Study of the Epidemiology of Mental Disorders

ESS European Social Survey

EU European Union

EU15 The 15 countries making up the European Union before 1

May 2004: Austria, Belgium, Denmark, Finland, France, Germany, Greece, Ireland, Italy, Luxembourg, Netherlands,

Portugal, Spain, Sweden and the United Kingdom

EU27 The 27 Member States of the European Union since 1

January 2007: these are the EU15 countries plus Bulgaria, Cyprus, Czech Republic, Estonia, Hungary, Latvia,

Lithuania, Malta, Poland, Romania, Slovakia and Slovenia

EUBIROD EUropean Best Information through Regional Outcomes in

Diabetes

EUCID European Core Indicators in Diabetes EUDIP European Diabetes Indicators Project EUGLOREH Global Report on the Health Status in the European Union

EUNICE EU Network for Indicators on Cancer

EUPHIX EU Public Health Information & Knowledge System

EUROCHIP European Register for Multiple Sclerosis
EUROCHIP European Cancer Health Indicator Project

EUROCISS project EUROpean Cardiovascular Indicators Surveillance Set

EuroCoDe European Collaboration on Dementia

EURODEM The European Community Concerted Action on the

Epidemiology and Prevention of Dementia

EURODEP European Depression study
EuroPeart European Heart Health strategy

EuroPa European Cooperative Network for Research, Diagnosis and

Therapy of Parkinson's Disease

Eurostat Statistical Database of the European Union

EU-SILC European Union Statistics on Income and Living Conditions

FEHES Feasibility of a European Health Examination Survey
GA²LEN Global Allergy and Asthma European Network

GBD Global Burden of Disease
GP General Practitioner

GPRD general practice research database
HES Health Examination Survey
HIS Health Interview Survey
HMP Health Monitoring Programme

IARC International Agency on Research on Cancer ICD International Classification of Diseases IDF International Diabetes Federation

IHD ischemic heart disease

IMCA Indicators for monitoring COPD and asthma in the EU ISAAC International Study of Asthma and Allergies in Childhood

MCD Major and chronic diseases

MEHM Minimum European Health Module

MINI Mini International Neuropsychiatric Interview

MONICA MONItoring trends and determinants in CArdiovascular

disease

MS multiple sclerosis

MS-ID Multiple Sclerosis - the Information Dividend

NOMESCO Nordic Medico-Statistical Committee

ODIN Outcomes of Depression International Network

OECD Organisation of Economic Cooperation and Development

RARECARE Surveillance of Rare Cancers in Europe RARECAREnet Information network on rare cancers

SHARE Survey of Health, Ageing and Retirement in Europe

UN United Nations

WHO World Health Organization

WHO-Europe World Health Organization Regional Office for Europe

WHO-Hfa Health for All database
WMH survey World Mental Health Survey

Annex 2: List of country name abbreviations

- EU27 European Union (27 countries)
- EU15 European Union (15 countries)
- BE Belgium
- BG Bulgaria
- CZ Czech Republic
- DK Denmark
- DE Germany
- EE Estonia
- IE Ireland
- EL Greece
- ES Spain
- FR France
- IT Italy
- CY Cyprus
- LV Latvia
- LT Lithuania
- LU Luxembourg
- HU Hungary
- MT Malta
- NL Netherlands
- AT Austria
- PL Poland
- PT Portugal
- RO Romania
- SI Slovenia
- SK Slovakia
- FI Finland
- SE Sweden
- UK United Kingdom
- IS Iceland (EFTA and Candidate country)
- NO Norway (EFTA)
- CH Switzerland (EFTA)
- ME Montenegro (Candidate country)
- HR Croatia (Acceding country)
- MK Former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia, the (Candidate country)
- RS Serbia (Candidate country)
- TR Turkey (Candidate country)
- AL Albania (Potential Candidate)
- BA Bosnia and Herzegovina (Potential Candidate)
- XK Kosovo (Potential Candidate)

Annex 3: Search strategy

In April 2012 (July for cancer) we conducted a literature search in MEDLINE, EMBASE, SciSearch and PsycINFO for reviews, meta-analyses and comparative studies performed after 2008. In step 1 and 2 different terms for the chronic disease groups included in this report were defined. Next, for each chronic disease these terms are combined with step 3-22.

Cardiovascular disease

- 1 *cardiovascular diseases/ or *cerebrovascular disorders/ or *vascular diseases/ or exp *heart diseases/ or exp *myocardial ischemia/ or *stroke/ or *aneurysm/ or *blood pressure/
- 2 (cardiovascular or vascular or blood vessels or coronary or cerebrovascular or stroke or ischemic or ischemic or heart or infarction or myocardial or cardiac or atherosclerosis or blood pressure).ti.

Cancer

- 1 (cancer* or neoplasm* or neoplastic* or tumo?r* or melanoma*).ti.
- 2 exp *neoplasms/

Diabetes

1 *diabetes mellitus/ or *diabetes mellitus, type 1/ or *diabetes mellitus, type 2/ or (diabetes or niddm or iddm).ti.

Respiratory diseases

- 1 exp *asthma/ or *rhinitis, allergic, perennial/ or *rhinitis, allergic, seasonal/ or *respiratory hypersensitivity/ or exp *chronic obstructive pulmonary disease/ or *lung disease obstructive/ or *chronic bronchitis/
- 2 (asthma* or copd or chronic obstructive pulmonary or chronic obstructive lung or chronic obstructive airway* or chronic airflow obstruct* or respiration disorders or chonic bronchitis or allergic rhinitis or atopic rhinitis or hay fever or hayfever).ti.

Depression

- 1 (depression or depressions or depressive or depressed or mental disorder* or mood disorder* or mental disease*).ti.
- 2 *depression/ or exp *depressive disorder/ or *mental disorders/ or *mood disorders/

Dementia and Parkinson's disease

- 1 *dementia/ or *cognition disorders/ or *mental retardation/ or *alzheimer disease/ or *parkinson disease/ or *parkinsonian disorders/
- 2 (dementia or cognitive impairment or alzheimer* or parkinson*).ti.

Multiple sclerosis

- 1 multiple sclerosis.ti. or (ms.ti. and sclerosis.ab.)
- 2 exp *multiple sclerosis/

Step 3-22

- 3 (prevalence* or burden or epidemiology).ti. or prevalence/
- 4 (1 or 2) and 3
- 5 exp europe/ or exp european union/
- 6 (european populations or european communit* or europ* or iceland or norway or sweden or finland or denmark or great britain or united kingdom or england or scotland or wales or (ireland not ireland ltd) or netherlands or belgium or france or luxemburg or spain or portugal or italy or switzerland or austria or germany).tw.

- 7 (poland or hungary or czech or croatia or slovakia or slovenia or romania or bulgaria or lithuania or latvia or estonia or estland or greece or turkey or albania or serbia or macedonia or bosnia or herzegovina or cyprus or malta).tw.
- 8 (european populations or europ* or iceland or norway or sweden or finland or denmark or great britain or united kingdom or uk or england or scotland or wales or ireland or netherlands or belgium or france or luxemburg or spain or portugal or italy or switzerland or austria or germany).in.
- 9 (poland or hungary or czech or croatia or slovakia or slovenia or romania or bulgaria or lithuania or latvia or estonia or estland or greece or turkey or albania or serbia or macedonia or bosnia or herzegovina or cyprus or malta).in.
- 10 (8 or 9) not (exp africa/ or exp asia/ or exp australasia/ or exp americas/)
- 11 (5 or 6 or 7 or 10) not (new south wales or turkey meat).tw.
- 12 (worldwide or global or international variation or geographical distribution).ti.
- 13 4 and (11 or 12)
- 14 (cross-national or cross national or cross-cultural or cross-european or across europe* or european cohort* or european countries or european regions or eu-countries or world region* or worldwide trends or worldwide burden or global burden or international variation or geographical distribution).tw.
- 15 ((comparative stud* or (comparative and study) or comparison* or compare or compared or comparing or comparative) and (countries or states or european population* or populations or governments or multi-countr* or multicountr* or international)).tw.
- 16 13 and (14 or 15)
- 17 (review or meta-analysis or multicenter study or comparative study).pt. or (review or meta-analysis or multi-center study or comparative study).ti.
- 18 13 and 17
- 19 16 or 18
- 20 19 and english.lg.
- 21 limit 20 to yr=2008-2012
- 22 remove duplicates from 21

Annex 4: Indicator definitions according to different databases

Disease	Indicator definition	
Eurostat/EHIS		
cardiovascular disease	self-reported prevalence: proportion of individuals reporting to have been diagnosed with the disease which occurred during the past 12 months. Self-reported prevalence has been computed for diabetes, chronic depression,	
cancer	asthma, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD). Even though ICD10 codes were not explicitly asked in the survey, following scale is used for the dissemination:	
diabetes	- (any types of) diabetes E10-E14 (diabetes mellitus) - chronic depression F32_F33 (depressive disorders)	
COPD	- asthma J45 (asthma) - J41 - J44 (Chronic bronchitis, emphysema, other chronic obstructive pulmonary diseases). The EHIS question also includes myocardial infarction, coronary heart	
asthma	disease (angina pectoris), stroke (cerebral haemorrhage, cerebral thrombosis) and cancer (malignant tumour, also including leukaemia and lymphoma), but prevalence has not been computed by Eurostat.	
depression	Tymphoma), but prevalence has not been computed by Eurostat.	
Eurostat morbidity	pilot	
cardiovascular disease	period prevalence of ischemic heart diseases (including AMI) (I20-I25), heart failure (I50) and cerebrovascular disease (I60-I69)	
cancer	period prevalence of all malignant neoplasms (cancer) (C00-C97) and 13 cancer types	
diabetes	period and point prevalence of diabetes mellitus (E10-E14)	
COPD	period prevalence of chronic lower respiratory diseases other than asthma (incl. COPD) (J40-J44, J47)	
asthma	period prevalence of asthma (J45, J46)	
depression	period prevalence of depression and other affective disorders (F30-F39)	
dementia	period prevalence of dementia (incl. Alzheimer's disease) (F00-F03, G30)	
Parkinson's disease	period prevalence of Parkinson's disease (G20)	
multiple sclerosis	period prevalence of multiple sclerosis (G35)	
GLOBOCAN		
cancer	estimated 1-, 3- and 5-year cancer prevalence (numbers and proportions per 100.000) for 26 cancers + all cancers combined	
IDF		
diabetes	the national prevalence is a percentage of the number of adults (20 - 79 years) who have diabetes in the given year (either 2011 or 2030) in a country or region. It is calculated by taking the number of cases in adults and dividing by the total population in adults. The comparative prevalence is age-adjusted and should be used to compare the relative burden of diseases in different countries.	

Disease	Indicator definition		
JA for ECHIM			
diabetes	self-reported prevalence: proportion of individuals reporting to have ever been diagnosed with diabetes and to have been affected by this condition during the past 12 months.		
	register-based prevalence: number of individuals that have ever been diagnosed with diabetes and that have been affected by this condition during the past 12 months. Expressed per 100,000 and as percentage of total population.		
COPD	self-reported prevalence: proportion of individuals reporting to have ever been diagnosed with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) and to have been affected by this condition during the past 12 months.		
	register-based prevalence: number of individuals that have ever been diagnosed with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and that have been affected by this condition during the past 12 months. Expressed per 100,000 and as percentage of total population.		
asthma	self-reported prevalence: proportion of individuals reporting to have ever been diagnosed with asthma and to have been affected by this condition during the past 12 months.		
	register-based prevalence: number of individuals that have ever been diagnosed with asthma and that have been affected by this condition during the past 12 months. Expressed per 100,000 and as percentage of total population.		
depression	self-reported prevalence: proportion of individuals reporting to have ever been diagnosed with chronic depression and to have been affected by this condition during the past 12 months.		
	register-based prevalence: number of individuals that have ever been diagnosed with depression and that have been affected by this condition during the past 12 months. Expressed per 100,000 and as percentage of total population.		
dementia	register-based prevalence: number of individuals aged 65+ that have been diagnosed with dementia. Expressed per 100,000 and as percentage of total population.		
MINDFUL			
depression	Age and sex-adjusted prevalence of cases fulfilling the criteria of major depression for an episode of depression for at least two weeks during past 12 months; instrument: CIDI-SF.		

Disease	Indicator definition		
SHARE			
cardiovascular disease	self-reported prevalence based on the following question: Has a doctor ever told you that you had / Do you currently have any of the conditions on this card? With this we mean that a doctor has told you that you have this		
cancer	condition, and that you are either currently being treated for or bothered by this condition.		
diabetes	The card with answer categories includes the following diseases of interest in the current report: - A heart attack including myocardial infarction or coronary thrombosis or		
COPD	any other heart problem including congestive heart failure - A stroke or cerebral vascular disease - Diabetes or high blood sugar		
asthma	Chronic lung disease such as chronic bronchitis or emphysemaAsthma		
depression	- Cancer or malignant tumour, including leukaemia or lymphoma, but excluding minor skin cancers - Parkinson disease		
dementia	- Alzheimer's disease, dementia, organic brain syndrome, senility or any other serious memory impairment		
Parkinson's disease			
WHO-HfA			
cancer	cancer prevalence in % and number of all cases of cancer: cumulative number of cancer patients (old and new cases). Data from the cancer register whenever available or from the existing routine reporting system of health establishments.		
diabetes	diabetes prevalence in % and number of all cases of diabetes mellitus at year's end: cumulative number of patients with diabetes (ICD-9: 250; ICD-10: E10-E14) at the end of the calendar year. Data from the national diabetes register, whenever available, or from the routine reporting system.		
COPD	COPD prevalence in % and number of chronic obstructive pulmonary diseases: cumulative number of patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary diseases (ICD-9: 490-496; ICD-10: J40-J47) at the end of the calendar year.		
mental disorders	mental disorders prevalence in % and number of all cases of mental disorders at year's end: cumulative number of registered mental patients at the end of the calendar year (chapter V of ICD-9/10).		